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Board of Directors’ Report on the Financial Statements   

as at December 31, 2012 
 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on February 27, 2013, it was resolved to approve and 
publish the audited financial statements of Poalim Express Ltd. ("the Company" or "Poalim 
Express") for the year 2012. 

 

Description of the General Development of the Company's Business 

The Company was established and incorporated in Israel in 1995 as a private company. The 
Company is owned by Bank Hapoalim B.M. ("Bank Hapoalim"). The Company is a credit-card 
company and an "auxiliary corporation," according to the definition of this term in the Banking Law 
(Licensing), 1981 ("Auxiliary Corporation"). The Company has no subsidiaries or other investee 
companies. 

The Company issues and clears American Express credit cards issued for use in Israel and abroad 
under a license granted to the Company by American Express Ltd. ("the American Express 
Organization"). The agreement with the worldwide American Express Organization concerning 
the issuance and clearing of American Express credit cards was renewed in April 2010. This 
agreement is in effect for a period of seven additional years.  

The Company's operations are conducted through two operating segments: the Issuance 
Segment, which handles cardholders; and the Clearing Segment, which handles merchants. 

 

Contractual engagement between the Company and Isracard Ltd. – Under an agreement 
between the Company and Isracard Ltd. ("Isracard"), a sister company, Isracard administers and 
operates, on behalf of the Company, issuance and clearing activity in Israel of transactions 
executed with merchants using American Express cards ("the Arrangement"). The Company 
participates in all costs common to Isracard and the Company, according to its relative share of 
the relevant activity. In return for Isracard's activity in the operation of the Arrangement, the 
Company pays a fee and other payments to Isracard, as agreed between the parties.  

The Company is part of the Isracard Group, which consists of the following companies: Isracard, 
Europay (Eurocard) Israel Ltd. ("Europay"), Aminit Ltd. ("Aminit"), and the Company. 

 

Economic Environment and the Effect of External Factors on the Company's 
Operations 

Developments in the Global Economy 

The debt crisis in the developed countries peaked during the last year, especially in Europe. 



 

 

Poalim Exp
 

Conseque
Europe’s 
of its seve
to the ma
year, part
countries 
recovery, 
as long a
hanging o
the year, 
slowed to
the bulk o
Central b
policies, w

Growth in
private co
unemploy
American
levels. Th
different t
political d
House of 

The Euro
unemploy
made in t
weakest l
investors.
agreemen
banks. It 
subject to
action see

Growth sl
weight of 
most sub
that the s
estate an
and figure

 

The Isra

Econom

The Israe

 

press Ltd. 

ences were
peripheral 
erity. Massi
arkets and 
ticularly aft
by the Eur
a genuine 
s these eco
over the glo

according 
o an annual 
of the contr
banks worl
which were 

n the United
onsumption
yment rate 
n economy i
he US is a
than in Eur
disagreeme
Representa

ozone eco
yment rate 
the Eurozon
link, receive
. A bailout f
nts were re
was resolv

o certain lim
ems to have

lowed sligh
f these econ
bstantial con
slowdown in
d in bankin
es for the fo

aeli Econo

mic Activity

eli economy

e felt throu
countries w
ve interven
prevent dec
er the pub
ropean Cen
solution to 

onomies do
obal econom

to estimat
rate of 3.2%

ribution to g
ldwide wor
also made 

d States acc
n and in the
in the US f
is still lacki

also facing 
rope. The U
ents betwe
atives has m

onomy exp
in the Euro
ne over the
ed two aid 
und was als

eached rega
ved that in t
mits. To date
e largely re

tly in the em
nomies in g
ntribution to
n growth ra
g. The Chin

ourth quarte

omy 

y in Israel 

y posted 3.

ghout the 
were the foc
tion by poli
cline. Stabi
lication of t

ntral Bank. 
the problem

o not resum
my in gener
tes by the 
%. The dev
growth deriv
rked to st
possible by

celerated sl
e real-estat
fell from 8.5
ng about 4 
the problem

US has the
en the De
made budge

perienced 0
ozone coun
e year indica

packages, 
so made av
arding the e
the future th
e, Italy and 
stored conf

merging ma
global term
o world gro

ates in Chin
nese admin
er pointed to

 

2% growth

| 8 | 

world, and 
cus of the c
cymakers w
ility was in 
the plan fo
It is importa
m of the lar
e growing, 
ral, and the 
Internation

veloped eco
ved from th
imulate gro
y the relativ

ightly over 
te market. 
5% at the e

million jobs
m of high p
 ability to r

emocratic a
et policy ma

0.4% GDP
tries reache
ated a desi
once it had

vailable to c
establishme
he central b
Spain have
fidence to th

arkets as w
s continued

owth. During
a might ex

nistration re
o a slight im

 in 2012. G

global gro
crisis; bond 
was necess
fact achiev
r purchase
ant to note 
rge sovereig
the need to
European 
al Monetar

onomies gre
e developin
owth, main

vely low infla

the last yea
Growth in 

end of 2011
s in order to
public debt
raise capita
administratio
anagement 

P contractio
ed a high o
re to keep 
d implemen
commercial 
ent of a un
bank would
e not yet ap
he financial

well, primaril
d to increas
g the year,
pose the C
sponded w

mprovement

Growth rate

owth slowed
yields func
ary in order

ved during t
s of the bo
that notwit

gn debts ha
o service th
economy in
ry Fund, w
ew at a mod
ng markets
ntaining ex
ation. 

ar, mainly d
2012 totale
 to 7.8% by
o return to 
, although 

al at relative
on and the
difficult. 

on in 201
of 11.8% in
it whole: G

nted a debt
banks in th
iform supe

d buy bonds
plied to the
 markets. 

ly in China,
se; they cu
 there were

Chinese eco
ith measure
t. 

es slowed d

d. The larg
ctioned as a
r to restore 
the second
onds of the
hstanding t
as not yet b
e debts is s
n particular.
orld econo

derate rate 
, which gre

xpansionary

ue to impro
ed 2.3%. A
y the end o
pre-crisis e
its charact

ely low pric
e Republic

2, and th
 November

Greece, the 
 settlement

he crisis cou
rvision mec
s of countrie
e fund, but t

 India, and 
rrently acco
e increasin

onomy to cr
es to stimul

during the y

ge debts of
a barometer

confidence
 half of the

e distressed
the signs of
been found;
still a sword
. Overall for
mic growth
of 1.3%, as

ew by 5.1%.
y monetary

ovements in
lthough the

of 2012, the
employment
teristics are
ces, but the
can-majority

he average
r. Decisions
Eurozone’s
t for private
untries, and
chanism for
es in crisis,
the decisive

Brazil. The
ount for the
g concerns
rises in rea
late growth,

year; in the

f 
r 
e 
e 
d 
f 
; 

d 
r 
h 
s 
. 
y 

n 
e 
e 
t 
e 
e 
y 

e 
s 
s 
e 
d 
r 
, 
e 

e 
e 
s 
l 
, 

e 



 
Report as at December 31, 2012 

 

 | 9 |                                        Board of Directors’ Report 
   

fourth quarter, the economy grew by only 2.5%, in annualized terms. The main cause of the 
slowdown was the stagnation in exports, apparently due to the global situation. Growth rates 
cooled in private consumption and in investments as well, including investments in residential 
construction. Monetary policy was expansionary, and the same can be said for fiscal policy, 
although taxes were raised during the second half in response to a significant deviation from the 
deficit target. 

The labor market remained strong in 2012, with the unemployment stable at 7%, and a 3.5% 
increase in the number of employed persons, although most jobs added were in the public sector, 
in the education and health-care segments. 

Following difficulties with the approval of the state budget for 2013, general elections to the 
Knesset were moved to the earlier date of January 22, 2013. The new government to be 
established will have to cope with the need for deep budget cuts during a downturn in economic 
growth. 

Natural gas from the Tamar reservoir will begin to arrive in the second quarter of 2013, according 
to estimates. The inflow of gas is expected to lead to reduced imports of energy materials to 
Israel; these imports soared over the last two years, due to the cessation of natural gas imports 
from Egypt. The natural gas is expected to contribute to economic growth, but its contribution to 
employment and to household incomes is likely to be minor, at least initially. 

 

Fiscal and Monetary Policy 

The budget deficit for the last year significantly exceeded the original target, reaching NIS 39 
billion, or 4.2% of GDP, versus the target of 2%. Most of the deviation occurred on the revenue 
side, which was affected by the slowdown in growth, despite tax hikes in the second half. 
Expenditures deviated from plans as well, due to wage agreements, defense spending, and the 
adoption of the Trajtenberg Committee’s recommendations. The state budget for 2013 was not 
approved, and the Knesset elections were held earlier as a result, as noted. 

An expansionary monetary policy was maintained over the last year. The central bank’s interest 
rate was lowered from 2.75% in January to 2.0% in December, and to 1.75% in January 2013. 
This policy was influenced by the low interest rates in the developed countries, the cooling of the 
local economy, and the lack of danger to price stability in the short term. The central bank took 
several steps aimed at halting the increase in mortgages and cooling down the housing market 
over the last year. 

 

Inflation and Exchange Rates 

The consumer price index rose by 1.6% in 2012, slightly below the midpoint of the target range. 
Government actions led to relatively large price changes, such as a 70% decrease in prices of 
preschools, which became free of charge from the age of three, as part of the Trajtenberg 
Committee recommendations, and mobile communication prices, down by 7%. By contrast, the 
price of electricity rose by 10%, and prices of other basic products were affected by the increase 
in indirect taxes during the year. Inflation in the developed countries has been tempered by 
surplus production capacity and, especially, high unemployment rates. This situation has also had 



 

 

Poalim Exp
 

a substan
monetary
in Novem
relative to

The shek
The Bank
foreign-cu
to reduce
such inve
holdings w

 

The Cre

As at the 
clearing i
cards; (2)
respective
Card Ltd. 
and Mast
Ashrai Le
Visa and 
Diners C
Company

The cred
(American
internatio

In recent 
(1) issuan
or consu
companie
the issua
amounts 

The credi
business 
an "auxilia
includes t
Banking L
Money La
power by 
credit-car
which reg
Conduct 

 

press Ltd. 

ntial impact
y policy seem
mber, accord
o 2007. 

kel apprecia
k of Israel 
urrency rese
e their inve
estments b
were sold b

dit-Card In

reporting d
n Israel: (1
) Isracard a
ely; (3) Am
(hereinafte

terCard cred
eisrael Ltd. 
MasterCard
lub Israel L

y's knowledg

it-card com
n Express,
nal organiz

years, two 
nce of non-
mer or oth

es in the ar
ance of "re
and dates a

it-card indu
of the comp
ary corpora
the Charge 
Law (Custo
aundering L

the Bank o
rd companie
gularizes the

of Bankin

t on inflatio
med to affe
ding to a s

ated by 2.3%
did not inte
erves grew 
stments in 
y the centr

by mid-2012

ndustry in

date, the fol
) the Comp
and Europa
init, a siste

er: "Leumi C
dit cards an
(hereinafter
d credit car
Ltd. (herein
ge, issues a

mpanies in 
 MasterCa

zations. 

notable tre
bank credit

her entities;
rea of cred
evolving cre
according to

stry in Israe
panies oper
tion," and in
Cards Law

omer Servic
Law, 2000 (t
of Israel. In
es in Israel,
e activity of

ng Busines

on in Israel
ect housing 
urvey by th

% against th
ervene in c
by USD 1 
bond and 

ral bank. T
2. 

n Israel 

llowing com
pany, which
ay, which is
er company
Card"), whic
nd clears V
r: "CAL"), w
ds and clea

nafter: "Dine
and clears D

Israel issue
ard, Visa, a

nds have b
t cards by c
; (2) expan
it and finan
edit" credit
o their need

el is charac
rating in this
n relation to

w, 1986 (the
e), 1981 (th
the "Anti-M
n addition, v
, including P
f credit-card
ss Directive

| 10 | 

l, preventin
prices, whic

he Central 

he US dolla
currency tra
billion, to U
short-term 

This proces

mpanies ope
h, as noted,
ssue and c
, which iss
ch, to the be

Visa, Master
which, to th
ars Visa, Ma
ers"), a su

Diners credit

e and clear
and Diners

been eviden
credit-card c
nsion of th
ncing to car
t cards, wh
ds and abilit

cterized by 
s area, both
o their activi
e "Charge C
he "Bankin

Money Laun
various dire
Proper Con
d companie
es No. 20

ng inflationa
ch rose by 
Bureau of S

ar and by 0
ading durin

USD 75.9 bi
notes (Ma

ss began in

erate in the 
, issues and
clear Israca
ues and cle
est of the C
rCard, and 
e best of th
asterCard, a

ubsidiary of 
t cards. 

r the intern
s) under lic

nt in the cre
companies,
e range of
rdholders a
hich allow 
ty. 

high, dyna
 due to the 
ity in the ar

Cards Law"
ng Law (Cu
ndering Law
ectives of t
duct of Ban

es, as well a
01-211, wh

ary pressur
5.7% in the
Statistics, c

0.8% agains
g the year.
llion. Foreig
kams), due
n 2011; mo

 area of cre
d clears Am

ard and Ma
ears Visa c

Company's k
Isracard cr
he Compan
and Isracar
f CAL, whic

ational cred
censes gra

dit-card iss
, usually lin
f services 
and mercha

cardholder

amic regulat
fact that ea

rea of credit
") and the d
ustomer Se
w") and the 
the Supervi
nking Busin
as guideline
hich establ

res. The ex
e twelve mo
completing 

st the curre
. The Bank
gn investors
e to limits i
ost foreigne

edit-card iss
merican Exp
asterCard c
credit cards
knowledge, 
edit cards; 

ny's knowle
rd credit car
ch, to the 

dit cards no
anted by th

suance sect
ked to cust
offered by 

ants, includi
rs to deter

tory interve
ach of the co
t cards. This
derived regu
ervice)"); an
 order issue
sor of Ban
ess Directiv

es derived f
lish risk-m

xpansionary
onths ended

a 73% rise

ncy basket.
k of Israel’s
s continued
mposed on
ers’ Makam

suance and
press credit
redit cards,

s; (4) Leum
issues Visa
(5) Cartise
dge, issues
rds; and (6)
best of the

oted above
he relevant

tor in Israel
tomer clubs
credit-card

ing through
rmine debit

ntion in the
ompanies is
s regulation
ulations; the
nd the Anti-
ed under its
ks apply to
ve No. 470,
from Proper
anagement

y 
d 
e 

. 
s 
d 
n 
m 

d 
t 
, 
i 

a 
i 
s 
) 
e 

e 
t 

: 
s 
d 
h 
t 

e 
s 
n 
e 
-
s 
o 
, 
r 
t 



 
Report as at December 31, 2012 

 

 | 11 |                                        Board of Directors’ Report 
   

standards aimed at reinforcing the financial robustness and stability of banking systems 
worldwide. 

For further details, and with regard to various directives in the area of cross-clearing of Visa and 
MasterCard credit cards imposed on credit-card companies in Israel by the Antitrust 
Commissioner, and the opening of the credit-card market – see the section "Restrictions and 
Supervision of the Company's Operations," below.  

 

 

Operational Data  

Number of Credit Cards (in thousands)  

Number of valid credit cards as at December 31, 2012 

 Active cards Inactive cards Total 
Bank cards  257 61 318 

Non-bank cards –    
Credit risk on the Company  86 48 134 

Total  343 109 452 

 

Number of valid credit cards as at December 31, 2011  
 

 Active cards Inactive cards Total 
Bank cards  232 53 285 

Non-bank cards –    
Credit risk on the Company  76 40 116 

Total  308 93 401 

 

Volume of transactions in credit cards issued by the Company (in NIS millions)  
 

 For the year ended December 31  
 2012 2011  
Bank cards  11,112 9,657  

Non-bank cards –    
Credit risk on the Company  2,683 2,228  

Total  13,795 11,885  
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Net interest income totaled NIS 7 million in 2012, similar to 2011. 

 

Other income totaled NIS 1 million in 2012, compared with an amount lower than NIS 0.5 million in 
2011. 

 

Expenses before payments to banks totaled NIS 176 million in 2012, compared with NIS 156 
million in 2011, an increase of 13%. (For an explanation of the increase, see the items of 
operating expenses and marketing expenses, below.) 

 

Expenses including payments to banks totaled NIS 249 million in 2012, compared with NIS 
219 million in 2011, an increase of 14%. (For an explanation of the increase, see the items of 
operating expenses, marketing expenses, and payments to banks, below.) 

 

The provision for credit losses totaled NIS 6 million in 2012, compared with NIS 4 million in 
2011, an increase of 50%. 

 

Operating expenses totaled NIS 91 million in 2012, compared with NIS 82 million in 2011, an 
increase of 11%. The increase mainly resulted from expenses in respect of royalties to the 
international organization. 

 

Operating expenses totaled NIS 54 million in 2012, compared with NIS 48 million in 2011, an 
increase of 13%. The increase mainly resulted from expenses in respect of gift offers for credit-card 
holders.  

 

General and administrative expenses totaled NIS 25 million in 2012, compared with NIS 22 
million in 2011, an increase of 14%. 

 

Payments to banks in accordance with the agreements between the banks and the Company 
totaled NIS 73 million in 2012, compared with NIS 63 million in 2011, an increase of 16%. Most of 
the increase resulted from growth in the Company's activity. 

 

The ratio of expenses to income before payments to banks reached 58.7% in 2012, 
compared with 59.3% in 2011. 
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Developments in Balance-Sheet Items 

The balance sheet as at December 31, 2012 totaled NIS 2,149 million, compared with NIS 1,951 
million on December 31, 2011. 

 

Developments in the principal balance-sheet items: 

 December 31  

 2012 2011 Change 

 In NIS millions In NIS millions % 

Total balance sheet 2,149 1,951 198 10 

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net  1,734 1,587 147 9 

Cash on hand and deposits with banks  13 25 (12) (48) 

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity  1,868 1,708 160 9 

Subordinated notes  56 58 (2) (3) 

Equity  204 166 38 23 

 

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net, totaled NIS 1,734 million as at December 31, 
2012, compared with NIS 1,587 million at the end of 2011. This amount mainly includes sales 
slips in respect of transactions executed by credit-card holders and not yet repaid at the balance-
sheet date. The increase resulted from an increase in the volume of activity in the Company's 
credit cards. 

 

Cash on hand and deposits with banks totaled NIS 13 million as at December 31, 2012, 
compared with NIS 25 million at the end of 2011. The decrease resulted from the fact that the 
balance was granted as a loan to a sister company. 

 

Subordinated notes totaled NIS 56 million as at December 31, 2012, compared with NIS 58 
million at the end of 2011. The decrease resulted from interest payable in respect of 2011, which 
was paid in early 2012. 

 

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity totaled NIS 1,868 million as at December 31, 2012, 
compared with NIS 1,708 million at the end of 2011. This amount mainly includes balances 
payable to merchants where credit-card holders’ transactions were executed but not yet settled at 
the balance-sheet date. The increase resulted from an increase in the volume of activity in the 
Company's credit cards. 
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Expenses for wages and related costs: Manpower for the maintenance of existing systems. 

Expenses for usage licenses: Expenses in respect of software maintenance and software rentals. 

Outsourcing expenses: External manpower for the maintenance of existing systems. 

Others: Mainly hardware maintenance, maintenance of POS devices, and other expenses 
expended by the information-technology system. 

 

Expenses incurred for the maintenance and development of information-technology systems and 
assets in respect of information-technology systems in 2012 are detailed below. 

 

Expenses in respect of information-technology systems as included in the statement of 
profit and loss (in NIS millions) 
 
 Software Hardware(1) Other Total  

Expenses for wages and related costs 2 1 *- 3 

Expenses for acquisitions or usage licenses 
not capitalized as assets 2 - 1 3 

Expenses for outsourcing 2 - - 2 

Expenses for depreciation  *- 1 *- 1 

Other expenses  8 2 1 11 

Total  14 4 2 20 
 

Additions to assets(2) in respect of information-technology systems not allocated as 
expenses (in NIS millions)  

 Software Hardware(1) Other Total  

Costs of wages and related costs - - - - 

Outsourcing costs  *- *- - *- 

Costs of acquisition or usage licenses(3)  - 1 - 1 

Costs of equipment, buildings, and land  - - - - 

Total  *- 1 - 1 
 
See notes on next page.   
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Description of the Company's Business by Operating Segments 

The Credit-Card Issuance Segment 

General 

A credit-card company issues credit cards to its customers (credit-card holders). Credit-card 
holders use the card as a means of payment to merchants, and the merchants provide the credit-
card holders with goods or services. Customers join the credit-card system by signing a credit-
card contract with the issuer and receiving the credit card. Credit-card holders make a 
commitment to repay amounts owed arising from their use of the credit card. The issuer collects 
various fees from the cardholder and interchange fees or merchant fees from the clearer or 
merchant in the segment for card issuance and operational services. 

As at the date of the report, several companies issuing bank and non-bank credit cards operate in 
the credit-card issuance sector in Israel: the Company, Isracard, Europay, Aminit, Leumi Card, 
CAL, and Diners. This field is characterized by a high level of competition. 

Bank cards issued by the Company are distributed to owners of accounts at banks with which the 
Company has agreements, including Bank Hapoalim (the parent company), Mizrahi Tefahot Bank 
Ltd., Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd., First International Bank of Israel Ltd., Bank 
Massad Ltd., Bank Otsar Hahayal Ltd., Bank Poaley Agudat Israel Ltd., Union Bank Ltd., and 
Jerusalem Bank Ltd. (jointly, the "Banks Under Arrangement"). The Company also recruits 
customers and issues cards through various other channels, including contractual engagements 
with organizations and clubs.  

As noted, Isracard administers and operates credit-card issuance and clearing activity on behalf 
of the Company. 

 

Critical success factors in the operating segment –In the opinion of the Company, the main 
critical success factors in the Issuance Segment are the following: (1) the ability to issue credit 
cards under an international license; (2) the collaboration with the Banks Under Arrangement in the 
distribution and issuance of credit cards, and collaborations with other banking corporations, as 
noted, for the distribution of credit cards, including the integration of a bank card with the credit card 
issued to the customer; (3) brand image and prestige, and uniqueness in its area of activity; (4) 
high-quality, experienced human capital; (5) quality of customer service; (6) a supporting 
operational system including information systems, technologies, communications, and advanced 
infrastructures; (7) a technological level allowing response to changes and the development of new 
products; (8) a system of risk management and credit controls; (9) the ability to recruit and retain 
customers through a targeted marketing system; (10) agreements to establish customer clubs; and 
(11) operational efficiency. 

 

Key entry barriers in the operating segment – The key entry barriers in the provision of credit-
card issuance services are the following: (1) the need to obtain a license from an international 
organization to issue the brand and receive the right to use its logo, which may involve high 
monetary costs; (2) compliance with certain qualifications as a condition of receiving an issuer's 
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The main expenses associated with this segment are expenses for customer-club marketing, 
advertising, and management; the loyalty program; issuance and delivery of cards and 
attachments; and production and delivery of debit statements. 

For details regarding the segmentation of income from credit-card transactions, see Note 18 to 
the Financial Statements. In addition, with regard to data on bank and non-bank cards, see 
"Operational Data," above. 

 

Contractual Arrangements with Banking Corporations 

The various agreements of the Company with the Banks Under Arrangement grant each bank the 
authority to determine which of its customers are entitled to register for the credit-card 
arrangement of the Company, and to recommend the customer's registration for the card 
arrangement to the Company. As a rule, each such bank is responsible for accepting all sales 
slips and debits executed by the customer on the day of presentation of the sales slips or debits 
to the bank. The aforesaid various agreements also include payment arrangements and the 
relevant terms with each of the Banks Under Arrangement. 

 

Customers – Cardholders 

The credit cards issued by the Company serve customers in various sectors. As at the date of the 
report, there are no cardholders (bank and/or non-bank) whose share of the volume of 
transactions executed using the Company's credit cards constituted 10% or more of the total 
volume of transactions in the Company's credit cards in 2012.  

 

Marketing and Distribution 

The Company's marketing activity in the Credit-Card Issuance Segment is conducted through a 
specialized marketing department within the Company, on several levels: joint activity with the 
Banks Under Arrangement in the issuance of bank cards, marketing of non-bank cards, joint 
activity with customer clubs with regard to the issuance of both bank cards and non-bank cards, 
operation of a loyalty program, and marketing and sales promotion, including through large-scale 
marketing campaigns, joint offers with leading entities in the various sectors, unique services 
offered to customers (including online buying services through a third party and concierge 
services), international plans providing discounts and benefits, a telemarketing center, direct mail, 
salespeople, a website, and more. See also risk factors with regard to the "Cessation of Activity of 
a Bank in Israel" and "Competition."  

Within the activity of customer clubs, the Company customarily enters into agreements with 
various entities representing various customer groups, in arrangements for the issuance of credit 
cards to the members of those customer groups (the "Club Members"). The cards issued to the 
Club Members usually grant them discounts, benefits, and special services at a range of 
merchants that accept the club's cards. Entities participating in the customer-club activity include 
workers' organizations, professional organizations, and commercial corporations interested in 
issuing club cards to their customers and/or employees through credit cards. The range of 
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credit-card issuance and clearing activity; (3) brand image and prestige, and uniqueness in its 
area of activity; (4) professional, skilled, experienced human capital; (5) the Company's system of 
agreements with customer clubs and organizations, representing a variety of segments of Israel's 
population; (6) the range of products and services offered to a broad spectrum of customers; (7) 
an advanced service system allowing a high quality of customer service; and (8) a robust capital 
structure and positive cash flow. 

Negative factors affecting the Company's competitive standing include, among others, 
technological improvements that create the possibility of development of alternative means of 
payment in areas such as payments via cellular phones, which may cause a decline in the 
demand for credit-card issuance; and the entry of retail and other entities into the issuance field 
and/or expansion of activity of existing competitors, including through strategic ventures and 
collaborations for card issuance. 

 

The Credit-Card Clearing Segment 

General 

In clearing services, the clearing credit-card company makes a commitment to merchants that 
subject to compliance with the terms of the agreement between them, the debits incurred by 
holders of cards cleared by the clearer when purchasing goods or services from the merchants 
will be settled by the clearer. The clearer accumulates debits for transactions executed in the 
credit cards cleared by the clearer with a particular merchant that has signed an clearing 
agreement with it, in return for a fee (called the "merchant fee"), and secures and transfers to the 
merchant the payments incurred by the credit-card holders who executed transactions using 
credit cards with that merchant. 

As at the date of the report, several credit-card companies operate in the credit-card clearing 
segment in Israel: the Company, Isracard, Europay, Aminit, Leumi Card, CAL, and Diners. 
Competition in this field is intense, encompassing all areas of activity within the segment. The 
Company has clearing agreements with merchants in various industries. In addition to clearing 
services, it offers merchants various financial services, advance payments, and discounting. 

As noted, Isracard administers and operates credit-card issuance and clearing activity on behalf 
of the Company. 

Credit-card companies authorized to issue MasterCard and Visa cards and to clear transactions 
executed using these cards can clear MasterCard and Visa cards, according to each company's 
authorizations. In addition, beginning on May 15, 2012, the market has been open for cross-
clearing of the Isracard brand, and merchants can switch clearers for this brand. 

 

Critical success factors in the operating segment, and changes therein – In the opinion of 
the Company, the main critical success factors in the Clearing Segment are the following: (1) the 
ability to clear credit cards under an international license; (2) available sources of financing for 
investment in new technological infrastructures necessary in order to provide clearing services and 
upgrades of existing infrastructures; (3) specification and development of suitable clearing systems 
and maintaining a high technological level; (4) high-quality, experienced human capital;  (5) quality 
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credit statements.  

For details regarding the segmentation of income from credit-card transactions, see Note 18 to 
the Financial Statements. In addition, with regard to data on the volume of transactions in credit 
cards issued by the Company, see "Operational Data," above. 

 

Customers 

The Company's customers in the Clearing Segment are numerous, varied merchants that have 
entered into agreements with it, as well as discounting companies, which enter into three-fold 
agreements: agreements with the Company, as a clearer, for the provision of discounting 
services, and concurrently, agreements with merchants, which also have clearing agreements 
with the Company. For this purpose, the discounting company is a customer of the Company for 
the provision of clearing services, like any other merchant, and is counted quantitatively along 
with the merchants that have clearing agreements with the Company. As at the date of the report, 
the Company did not derive revenues from any individual merchant constituting 10% or more of its 
total revenues in 2012. 

 

Marketing and Sales 

The Company's marketing and sales activity in the Credit-Card Clearing Segment is based on the 
principle of focusing on merchants' needs, and is conducted through a targeted sales and support 
system. 

The main objectives of marketing activity in this segment are: 1) to recruit new merchants and 
benefit-granting merchants, and to expand the Company's operations through new business 
activities, including credit granting; (2) to strengthen the Company's image; and (3) to retain 
merchants as customers by forming closer relationships with them and by providing marketing, 
financial, and operational services, including information regarding past and future credits of the 
merchant and other segmented information, advertising campaigns and unique marketing 
information, benefits, and programs at a high level of service.  

The Company operates a website at the address: www.americanexpress.co.il, designed for 
merchants that have clearing agreements with it, among others. The website provides 
information, including about products and services offered to merchants, the Company's rates, 
special offers, and benefits. 

 

Competition 

The credit-card clearing field is characterized by a very high level of competition. For a list of 
credit-card companies operating in this area in Israel, see "The Credit-Card Industry in Israel," 
above.  

Competition in the clearing sector is focused on recruiting new merchants for clearing 
agreements with the Company, retaining existing merchants as customers of the Clearing 
Segment, and preventing desertion to competitors, which requires the investment of extensive 
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Financial Information on the Company’s Operating Segments 

Quantitative Data on Operating Segments 

Reported amounts  

NIS millions 
 

 
For the year ended  
December 31, 2012 

Profit and loss information 
Issuance 
Segment 

Clearing 
Segment Total 

Income     

Fees from external customers  44 248 292 

Inter-segmental fees 105 (105) - 

Total  149 143 292 

Net interest income (expenses) (*-) 7 7 

Other income (expenses) 2 (1) 1 

Total income  151 149 300 
    

Expenses     

Provisions for credit losses 5 1 6 

Operations  53 38 91 

Sales and marketing 46 8 54 

General and administrative  12 13 25 

Payments to banks  33 40 73 

Total expenses  149 100 249 
    

Profit before taxes 2 49 51 

Provision for taxes on profit  1 12 13 

    

Net profit  1 37 38 

    

Return on equity (percent net profit out of average capital)  0.6 20.1 20.7 

Average balance of assets  1,821 249 2,070 

Average balance of liabilities  109 1,777 1,886 

Average balance of risk-adjusted assets  1,410 216 1,626 
 
*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million.  
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Financial Information on the Company’s Operating Segments (cont.) 

Quantitative Data on Operating Segments 

Reported amounts  

NIS millions 
 
 For the year ended December 31, 2010 

Profit and loss information 
Issuance 
Segment 

Clearing 
Segment Total 

Income     
Fees from external customers  **35 **188 223 

Inter-segmental fees 97 (97) - 

Total  132 91 223 
Net interest income (expenses) **(1) **3 2 

Other income (expenses)  **2 **(1) 1 

Total income  133 93 226 
    

Expenses     

Provisions for doubtful debts 1 *- 1 

Operations  ***42 ***30 72 

Sales and marketing ***45 ***5 50 

General and administrative  9 10 19 

Payments to banks  28 26 54 

Total expenses  125 71 196 
    

Profit before taxes 8 22 30 
Provision for taxes on profit  2 6 8 

    

Net profit  6 16 22 

    

Return on equity (percent net profit out of average capital)  5.0 13.2 18.2 

Average balance of assets  1,239 290 1,529 

Average balance of liabilities  64 1,344 1,408 

Average balance of risk-adjusted assets  1,059 186 1,245 
* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
** Reclassified. See footnote 1 to the Statement of Profit and Loss, below. 
*** Reclassified. 
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The return of profit before taxes on average equity reached 1.1% in 2012, compared with 
6.1% in 2011. 

The provision for taxes on profit totaled NIS 1 million in 2012, compared with NIS 2 million in 
2011. 

 

Profit and Profitability – Clearing Segment 

The segment’s net profit totaled NIS 37 million in 2012, compared with NIS 28 million in 2011, 
an increase of 32%. The increase in the segment's net profit in comparison to the preceding year 
mainly resulted from an increase in the volume of activity in Israel using the Company's credit 
cards. 

Net return on average equity reached 20.1% in 2012, compared with 19.0% in 2011. 

 

Developments in Income and Expenses 

The segment's income totaled NIS 149 million in 2012, compared with NIS 118 million in 2011, an 
increase of 26%. The increase resulted from an increase in the volume of activity of the Company. 

Net income from fees totaled NIS 143 million in 2012, compared with NIS 112 million in 2011, an 
increase of 28%, resulting from an increase in the domestic volume of purchases using the 
Company's cards and an increase in the number of credit cards.  

Net interest income totaled NIS 7 million in 2012, similar to 2011. 

Expenses before payments to banks totaled NIS 60 million in 2012, compared with NIS 50 
million in 2011, an increase of 20%. 

Expenses including payments to banks totaled NIS 100 million in 2012, compared with NIS 83 
million in 2011, an increase of 20%. 

The provision for credit losses totaled NIS 1 million in 2012, compared with an amount lower 
than NIS 0.5 million in 2011.  

Operating expenses totaled NIS 38 million in 2012, compared with NIS 34 million in 2011, an 
increase of 12%. 

Sales and marketing expenses totaled NIS 8 million in 2012, compared with NIS 5 million in 
2011, an increase of 60%. 

General and administrative expenses totaled NIS 13 million in 2012, compared with NIS 11 
million in 2011, an increase of 18%. 

Payments to banks in accordance with the agreements between the banks and the Company 
totaled NIS 40 million in 2012, compared with NIS 33 million in 2011, an increase of 21%. The 
increase resulted from an increase in the Company’s income. 
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Manpower inputs were adjusted to the volume of activity in the areas of service, collection, credit, 
and information systems. In addition, numerous measures were taken in response to the 
changing needs expressed by the various departments, according to the key projects in the 
Group, with changes and adjustments made in order to provide efficient, high-quality solutions. 

 

Trends in Human Resources 

Human resources strategy emphasizes organizational stability, with the integration and cultivation 
of the values of upholding the ethical code, openness, and transparency, along with innovation 
and achievement. 

In 2012, the Company continued to maintain this policy, through: 

1. Encouragement of employees’ efforts to develop innovation, excellence, professional 
expertise, and success. 

2. Cultivation of employees’ sense of belonging to the Company, with an emphasis on values 
such as mutual trust and respect, and on creating the feeling that “we are all one family.” 
These values, which strengthen employees’ connection and identification with the Company, 
are reinforced by means including a range of activities for the well-being of employees and 
their families throughout the year. 

3. Encouragement of volunteering through organizational units, individual activities, and 
recurring activities, in order to promote the value of giving back to the community. 

4. Occupational stability in the area of service, designed to increase the experience of service 
representatives at the customer-service centers. 

5. Leading organization-wide processes in response to changes and in support of the Group's 
strategy, including support and guidance for the process of consolidation of call centers, 
which encompasses adaptation of recruitment and training processes and guidance of the 
change with support for managers and advice on communication of the messages related to 
the change; development of a computerized learning environment; and improved efficiency of 
the training program. 

6. Development of strategic partnerships with the various departments, in order to support the 
Group's objectives. 

7. Instillation of a culture of intra-organizational surveys, for the purposes of learning, growth, 
and improvement of performance. 

8. Examination of changes in human-resources policy aimed at achieving improved efficiency 
and cost savings. 

9. Collective agreement – 2011 was the first year in which a collective agreement was in place 
for Isracard employees. In 2012, a stable and calm labor relationship was maintained, with 
ongoing dialogue between the partners in the relationship based on common goals and on an 
organizational understanding and perspective.  
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Occupational Stability 

Employee retention in general, and at the call centers in particular, was a focus of joint work by 
the business units and the human resources units. The duration of employment of service 
representatives at the various call centers increased as a result of this joint effort and of the 
personal and group guidance of team leaders, which also included training and retention work by 
human resources. 

  

Promotion of Diversity 

The Group has undertaken a moral commitment to promote employee diversity, with a focus on 
support and equal opportunities for diverse population groups. In 2012, the Company worked to 
create a supportive, open work environment with acceptance of differences and aid for social 
integration and professional and personal fulfillment, concurrently learning to be open to others 
and to those who are different from us, and to create a more tolerant community of employees, 
with respect and appreciation for others. 

 

Community Involvement and Contribution 

Most of the activity in the area of community involvement and contributions is conducted through 
Isracard. 

 

 

Service Providers 

Isracard – An arrangement is in place between the Company and Isracard, under which Isracard 
administers and operates credit-card issuance and clearing activity on behalf of the Company. 
For further details, see "Contractual engagement between the Company and Isracard Ltd.," 
above. 

Automatic Bank Services Ltd. ("ABS") – ABS serves as a communications channel between 
merchants and clearers. To the best of the Company's knowledge, ABS operates a system for 
collecting data related to transactions executed using credit cards in Israel, such as transactions 
executed with the various merchants, sorts the transactions by the identity of the relevant clearer 
with which the merchant has an agreement, and transmits electronic messages to the clearers for 
approval of execution of the transaction. The Company, like the other credit-card companies in 
Israel, is materially dependent upon the services provided by ABS. Failure to receive such 
services from ABS could cause significant damage to the Company's operations.  

Beeri Printers – The Company, through Isracard, has contracted with Beeri Printers for the 
provision of production, printing, and binding services of the statement of debits and credits sent 
by the Company to cardholders and merchants on a monthly basis. In the event of cancellation of 
the contractual engagement with Beeri Printers for an unforeseen reason, it would be temporarily 
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Restrictions and Supervision of the Company's Operations 

As a company engaged in issuing and clearing charge cards, laws and directives related to its 
activity apply to the Company. These charge-card laws impose duties and restrictions on the 
operation of credit-card companies, including the Company, in the areas of the issuance and 
clearing of charge cards. In addition, various directives issued by the Supervisor of Banks and 
applicable to credit-card companies apply to the Company, such as Proper Conduct of Banking 
Business Directive No. 470 (Charge Cards), which regularizes the operation of credit-card 
companies that are auxiliary banking corporations and of banking corporations with regard to the 
operation of charge-card systems. Additional Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives also 
apply to credit-card companies. 

In addition, the Company is an "auxiliary corporation" under the Banking Law (Licensing). As a 
credit-card company and as an auxiliary corporation, a further system of rules, orders, and 
regulations applies to the Company, including: the Banking Law (Licensing); the Bank of Israel 
Law, 1954; the Banking Ordinance; the Banking Law (Customer Service), 1981 and the derived 
secondary legislation; and a system of directives, guidelines, and position statements of the 
Supervisor of Banks at the Bank of Israel.  

The aforesaid laws and directives extensively affect the conduct of the Company's business 
(similar to other credit-card companies), including its contractual engagements, its manner of 
conduct, and the management of its financial resources. 

In addition to the laws relevant to the Company's activity as an auxiliary corporation and as a credit-
card company, various items of legislation apply to the Company which regularize its routine 
operations, including the Restrictive Trade Practices Law, 1988 (the "Restrictive Trade Practices 
Law"); the Interest Law, 1957; the Agency Law, 1965; the Control of Prices of Commodities and 
Services Law, 1957; the Control of Commodities and Services Law, 1996; and the Protection of 
Privacy Law, 1981 and the subsequent regulations. 

 

Antitrust Issues 

In October 2006, Isracard, other credit-card companies (not including the Company), and certain 
banks filed a request with the Antitrust Tribunal for approval of a restrictive arrangement in the area 
of clearing of transactions in MasterCard and Visa credit cards (hereinafter: the "Arrangement"), 
which also has implications for Isracard cards. Objections to the aforesaid request have been 
submitted. The Tribunal granted a temporary permit for the Arrangement, in effect until February 
29, 2012. In June 2007, as part of the Arrangement, a technical interface began to operate in 
Israel for clearing of transactions executed in Israel using MasterCard and Visa cards. 

An amended cross-clearing arrangement, revising the earlier agreements, was submitted to the 
Tribunal on December 28, 2011; this arrangement is in effect from the date of its approval until 
December 31, 2018. A ruling handed down by the Antitrust Tribunal on March 7, 2012 approved 
the amended arrangement, including all of the terms thereof. The Company estimates that the 
implementation of the restrictive arrangement may lead to a decrease in the rates of fees paid by 
merchants for clearing of transactions in the aforesaid cards, which may have an effect on 
clearing fees paid by merchants to the Company. At this stage, the Company cannot estimate the 
volume of this effect on its conduct and revenue. 
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4. In December 2011, a government bill was passed in the first reading and transferred to the 
Constitution, Law, and Justice Committee to be prepared for the second and third readings. 
The bill sets forth several amendments to the Prohibition of Money Laundering Law and the 
Prohibition of Terrorism Financing Order, including with regard to reporting duties and the 
duty to receive identifying information. Discussions are also being conducted by the 
Constitution, Law, and Justice Committee regarding various amendments to the Money 
Laundering Prohibition Order applicable to banking corporations. 

 In July 2012, a proposal to amend the Prohibition of Terrorism Financing Law, concerning the 
procedure for declaring terrorist organizations and terrorist operatives in Israel, was passed 
in a second and third reading. 

  

5. In February 2012, the Constitution, Law, and Justice Committee approved an amendment to 
the Charge Card Regulations, pursuant to which the Supervisor will be able to issue 
directives that differ from the current text of the regulations with regard to the delivery of 
statements to customers. Directive 470 was amended accordingly in September 2012. The 
Company estimates that this amendment will have no effect on the Company. 

 

6. In March 2012, the Justice, Technology, and Information Authority issued a draft guideline 
concerning restrictions on the collection of identification numbers by database owners. If the 
draft becomes binding in its current format, it is likely to have an impact on the Company; 
however, the Company cannot estimate the extent of this impact. 

 

7. In May 2012, the Knesset plenum passed a private bill, in a second and third reading, 
pursuant to which the Governor of the Bank of Israel would have the authority to set rules 
regarding the minimum font size for notifications sent to senior citizens (as defined in the 
Senior Citizens Law, 1989). The Company estimates that if such rules are established, they 
will have no material effect on the Company. 

 

8. In June 2012, the Knesset plenum passed a government bill, in a first reading, which would 
update the list of causes with regard to conditions considered depriving conditions in uniform 
contracts, and establish rules with regard to the authority of the Uniform Contracts Court. At 
this stage, the Company cannot estimate whether the aforesaid bill will result in legislation, 
and if so, its implications for the Company, if any. 

  

9. In July 2012, the Knesset plenum passed a government bill, in a first reading, for the 
promotion of competition and reduction of concentration. A discussion on this matter was held 
on August 29, 2012. 
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14. In November 2011, a government bill was passed in a first reading and transferred to the 
Constitution Committee for preparation for the second and third reading, concerning the 
establishment of an administrative enforcement mechanism to serve as an alternative to 
enforcement in a criminal proceeding with regard to violations of the Protection of Privacy 
Law. The committee discussion scheduled for July 2012 was canceled. In August 2012, a 
legislative memorandum was issued amending the Protection of Privacy Law, aimed at 
improving compliance with the provisions of the Protection of Privacy Law and regularizing 
the protection of information in computerized databases. The public was permitted to submit 
comments on the memorandum until August 28, 2012. 

 

15. In January 2013, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular concerning an amendment to 
Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 342, "Liquidity Risk Management." The 
circular was issued as part of the Supervisor of Banks' efforts to strengthen the robustness of 
the banking system. The amendment of the directive is aimed at strengthening and simplifying 
liquidity risk management at banking corporations, and constitutes an interim phase in advance 
of the future adoption in Israel of the Basel III recommendations concerning liquidity. 

 The revised directive clarifies the need to maintain a liquidity cushion against predicted 
liquidity needs under stress scenarios, with a one-month horizon; details the Supervisor's 
expectations for risk monitoring on a group basis; establishes a requirement to examine the 
structure of sources of financing in conjunction with financing needs from a long-term 
perspective; and adds to the qualitative requirements for liquidity risk management. 

 The Supervisor of Banks has not established specific rules for credit-card companies with 
regard to the aforesaid requirements, but mandates the qualitative requirements for risk 
management and holding of liquid assets to be fulfilled according to the needs of the 
company, with the necessary adjustments. 

 The implementation of the amendments to Directive 342 will begin in July 2013, with the 
exception of Section 16 concerning the stable credit ratio, which will take effect at the end of 
2013. 

 

16. With regard to new accounting standards and new directives of the Supervisor of Banks in 
the period prior to implementation, see Note 1.G to the Financial Statements. 

 

 

Legal Proceedings and Contingent Liabilities  

1. Several legal claims have been filed against the Company, arising from the ordinary course 
of its business, in immaterial amounts. Based on the opinion of its legal advisors, the 
Company estimates that the financial statements include provisions, in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, to cover possible damages arising from all of the 
claims, where such provisions are necessary. 
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Risk Management Policy 

The Company’s activity involves various financial risks: credit risks, which represent the risk that 
a borrower client or merchant will default on scheduled payments as defined in the agreement 
with the borrower; market risks deriving from exposure to changes in interest rates, exchange 
rates, and inflation; and liquidity risks. In addition, the Company is exposed to operational risks, 
which refer to losses arising from faulty processes, human errors, system failures, and external 
events. The Company is also exposed to various qualitative risks, such as reputation risk, 
strategic risk, regulatory risk, legal risk, and compliance risk. 

Risks are managed pursuant to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 339 and in 
compliance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives No. 201-211 (Capital 
Measurement and Adequacy). 

According to a decision of Management, each member of Management manages operational 
risks in the area of activity for which he or she is responsible. In addition, the Head of Finance 
and Administration is responsible for market and liquidity risks, the Head of Credit and Financial 
Services is responsible for credit risks, the Head of Strategy is responsible for strategic risk and 
regulatory risk, and the Legal Advisor is responsible for the management of legal risk. The 
Company has a Head of Risk Management with the status of a member of Management. In 
addition, the organizational structure of the Risk Management Department was updated in the 
format outlined by the Bank of Israel. Among other matters, the functions of the department 
include independent supervision of the manner of management of risks at the Company, 
monitoring of risks, reports to Management and to the Board of Directors, validation of risk-
measurement systems, involvement in the establishment of risk-management policies, and 
examination of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk-management processes. In order to 
manage and minimize risks, the Company makes use of supporting computerized systems, 
among other means. 

The Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors was established during 2011. The 
Risk Management Forum headed by the CEO began to operate in 2011. The forum convenes 
quarterly, with the aim of ensuring adequate control coverage for risk-management processes 
and formulating an ongoing process for the improvement of effectiveness of risk-management 
control mechanisms at the Company, at the level of the risk-taking divisions, the independent 
control units in the divisions, and the Risk Management and Security Division.   

 

Operational Risks 

The Company has established a policy for the management of operational risks, as required by 
the Bank of Israel. Within operational risk management, the organizational structure supporting 
the management of operational risks has been defined, including the roles of the Board of 
Directors and the Management Committee on Risk Management headed by the CEO. In addition, 
the Subcommittee on Operational Risk Management has been established, headed by the Head 
of the Risk Management Department; members of the committee include controllers from all 
departments of the Company and other officers such as the Compliance Officer, the officer 
responsible for money-laundering prevention, and the Head of Information Security. 

As part of the management and control of operational risks, and as part of the compliance with 
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In order to implement the requirements of the market risk management policy, Isracard, 
which administers and operates the Company's operations, as noted above, uses a targeted 
automated asset and liability management system.  

 

A. Linkage Base Risk 

This risk is defined as exposure to currencies and to the consumer price index, 
expressed as the loss that may occur as a result of the effect of changes in currency 
exchange rates and in rates of the consumer price index on the difference between the 
value of assets and liabilities. 

The Company applies a comprehensive policy for the management of market risks in 
Israeli and foreign currency, designed to support the achievement of business objectives 
while assessing and limiting the losses that may arise from exposure to market risks. 

 

B. Interest-Rate Exposure 

Interest-rate risk is the exposure to damage to the capital of the Company as a result of 
changes in interest rates in the various markets. 

Among other factors, this exposure arises from the gap between maturity dates and 
dates of interest calculations for assets and liabilities in each of the linkage segments. 
For the purposes of interest rate risk management, gaps between assets and liabilities in 
future periods are examined, and comparisons of terms to maturity of assets, liabilities, 
and capital are performed on a monthly basis. 

Interest-rate exposure exists primarily in the shekel segment, as this segment contains 
assets with fixed interest rates. 

 

1. Fair value of financial instruments of the Company, excluding non-monetary items 
 
 December 31, 2012 

 In NIS millions 

Israeli currency Foreign currency**  

Unlinked CPI-linked USD Other Total 

Financial assets 2,066 8 54 4 2,132 

Financial liabilities 1,869 8 51 4 1,932 

Net fair value of financial instruments 197 *- 3 *- 200 

 
  



 

 

Poalim Exp
 

 
 

 

Financial a

Financial li

Net fair va

* Amou

** Includ

 

2.  Effec
of the

 
 

 

 

 

 

Immediate
increase o

Immediate
increase o

Immediate
decrease o

* Amou

**  “Net f
segme
total n
mone
segme

*** Includ

 

 

 

press Ltd. 

assets 

iabilities 

alue of finan

unt lower than

ding Israeli cu

ct of hypoth
e Company

e parallel 
f 1% 

e parallel 
f 0.1% 

e parallel 
of 1%  

unt lower than

fair value of 
ent assuming
net fair value
tary items), a
ent. 

ding Israeli cu

ncial instrum

n NIS 0.5 mil

urrency linke

hetical cha
y, excludin

Israeli c

Unlinked 

198 

197 

196 

n NIS 0.5 mil

financial ins
g that the ch
e of financia
assuming tha

urrency linke

Un 

1

1

ments 

llion. 

d to foreign c

anges in int
g non-mon

afte

urrency 

CPI-
linked 

*- 

*- 

*- 

llion. 

truments” pr
hange noted 
l instruments
at the chang

d to foreign c

| 46 | 

Israeli curr

nlinked C

1,874 

1,710 

164 

currency.  

terest rates
netary items

De

Net fair valu
er the effect 

In NIS milli

Foreign
currency*

USD Ot

3 

3 

3 

resented in e
has occurred
s is the fair 

ge noted has 

currency.  

Dece

In N

rency

PI-linked

7 

7 

*- 

s on the fa
s 

ecember 31, 

ue of financi
of changes 

ons 

 
*** 

ther 
Offse

effe

*- 

*- 

*- 

each linkage 
d in all intere
value of all 
occurred in 

ember 31, 20

NIS millions

Foreign cu

USD 

50 

51 

(1) 

ir value of 

2012 

ial instrume
in interest r

  

etting 
ects Tota

- 20

- 20

- 19

segment is 
est rates in th
financial inst
all interest r

011 

s 

urrency** 

Other 

3 

- 

3 

financial in

nts  
rates** 

Change 

In NIS 
millions

al Total 

01 1 

00 *- 

99 (1) 

the net fair 
hat linkage s
truments (ex
rates in the e

 

Total 

1,934 

1,768 

166 

nstruments

in fair value

s 
In 

percent

Total 

0.5

- 

(0.5)

value in tha
segment. The
xcluding non-
entire linkage

s 

e

t 
e 
-
e 



 
Report as at December 31, 2012 

 

 | 47 |                                        Board of Directors’ Report 
   

 December 31, 2011 

 
Net fair value of financial instruments  

after the effect of changes in interest rates** 

 In NIS millions Change in fair value

 Israeli currency 
Foreign 

currency***   
In NIS 

millions 
In 

percent 

 Unlinked 
CPI-

linked USD Other 
Offsetting 

effects Total Total Total 

Immediate parallel 
increase of 1% 165 *- (1) 3 - 167 1 0.6 

Immediate parallel 
increase of 0.1% 164 *- (1) 3 - 166 *- - 

Immediate parallel 
decrease of 1%  163 *- (1) 3 - 165 (1) (0.6) 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

**  “Net fair value of financial instruments” presented in each linkage segment is the net fair value in that 
segment assuming that the change noted has occurred in all interest rates in that linkage segment. The 
total net fair value of financial instruments is the fair value of all financial instruments (excluding non-
monetary items), assuming that the change noted has occurred in all interest rates in the entire linkage 
segment. 

*** Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.  

 

 

C. Exposure to the value of securities 

The Company's policy establishes a limited possibility for the execution of transactions in 
fixed-income, risk-free securities. 

 

D. Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Company’s policy states that no activity for the purpose of trading in derivative 
financial instruments shall be conducted. The only activity in derivative financial 
instruments permitted to the Company is for the purposes of economic hedging. 

No transactions in derivative financial instruments were executed during the reported 
period. 

 

2. Liquidity Risk Exposure and Management 

The goal of the liquidity risk management process is to ensure, taking into account the risk 
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The Company regularly invests resources in training employees responsible for making decisions 
and assessing risks in the area of credit, and in improving the computerized control tools and 
information systems available to them. 

The Company also carries out routine control of internal and regulatory limits on the level of 
indebtedness of a single borrower and of a group of borrowers, in accordance with the 
requirements of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 313 of the Bank of Israel. 

The Company monitors and supervises transactions with related persons, in accordance with 
Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 312, and files reports pursuant to Directive 
No. 815 of the Supervisor of Banks. 

The Company’s credit-risk management is based on several statistical models, which are used to 
establish a score for each customer or merchant. This score is used to support decisions 
regarding the type of credit, volume of credit, and interest rate set for the customer or merchant. 
The models are tested periodically for quality and calibration and are established in accordance 
with internal and regulatory requirements. 

 

Credit Risk in Respect of Exposure to a Group of Borrowers 

Pursuant to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 313, "Limits on the Indebtedness of 
a Borrower and of a Group of Borrowers" (hereinafter: "Directive 313"), there is no group of 
borrowers that exceeds 15% of the capital of the banking corporation (as defined in Directive 313) 
as at September 30, 2012. 

 

Credit Control Unit  

The Company receives services for the purposes of credit control from Isracard, under the 
responsibility of the Head of Credit and Financial Services. 
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Risk and Credit Indices  
 
 December 31 

 2012 2011 

 In percent 

(A) Balance of impaired debtors in respect of credit-card activity not accruing 
interest income, as a percentage of the balance of debtors in respect of 
credit-card activity 0.17 0.13

(B) Balance of unimpaired debtors in respect of credit-card activity in arrears of 
90 days or more, as a percentage of the balance of debtors in respect of 
credit-card activity - - 

(C) Balance of allowance for credit losses for debtors in respect of credit-card 
activity, as a percentage of the balance of debtors in respect of credit-card 
activity 0.57 0.44

(D) Balance of allowance for credit losses for debtors in respect of credit-card 
activity, as a percentage of the balance of impaired debtors in respect of 
credit-card activity not accruing interest income  -(1) -(1) 

(E) Provisions for credit losses as a percentage of the average balance of 
debtors in respect of credit-card activity  0.37 0.27

(F) Net charge-offs for debtors in respect of credit-card activity as a percentage 
of the average balance of debtors in respect of credit-card activity 0.14 0.34

(G) Net charge-offs for debtors in respect of credit-card activity as a percentage 
of the allowance for credit losses for debtors in respect of credit-card activity 23.36 71.43

(1) Greater than 100%. 

 

Credit Exposure to Foreign Financial Institutions and Foreign Countries 

As at the reporting date, the Company has immaterial exposure to the international organization 
American Express Ltd., in respect of balances of volumes of transactions executed by tourists in 
Israel, less balances of volumes of transactions executed by Israelis abroad in respect of which the 
Company has not yet been credited by the international organization.  
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the Supervisor of Banks. With regard to the effect on the core capital ratio, see the section 
"Capital Adequacy," below. 

2. Minimum core capital ratios – In March 2012, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular to all 
banking corporations and credit-card companies concerning the establishment of a minimum 
capital ratio higher than the current requirement. According to the directive, all banking 
corporations will be required to maintain a minimum core capital ratio of 9% by January 1, 
2015. The core capital ratio is to be calculated in accordance with the Basel III directives and 
the adjustments to be established by the Supervisor of Banks. 

 In addition, a large banking corporation whose total consolidated balance-sheet assets 
constitute at least 20% of the total balance-sheet assets in the banking system in Israel will 
be required to maintain a minimum core capital ratio of 10% by January 1, 2017. 

The Company is studying this directive and its expected implications in connection with the 
formulation of a revised capital plan, with the aim of ensuring the implementation of the directive 
and compliance with the new core capital ratio requirements. 

 

Risk Appetite 

The Board of Directors of the Company has defined its risk appetite and risk capacity, in line with 
the strategy and future business plans of the Company. Risk appetite reflects and defines the risk 
level to which the Company is willing to be exposed, or which it is willing to accept or sustain, 
during the ordinary course of business. Risk appetite serves as the basis for the allocation of 
resources and capital. 

Risk capacity reflects the risk level which the Company will not exceed even in the event of the 
materialization of extreme scenarios. In light of the above, the maximum risk level undertaken by 
the Company during the ordinary course of business is lower than its risk capacity.  

The Management of the Company is responsible for routine monitoring, and ensures through the 
definition and enforcement of appropriate risk limits that the Company operates within its 
declaration regarding risk appetite and risk capacity, as defined, through the use of risk limits, 
among other means. 

  

Capital Adequacy Target 

The capital target of the Company is the appropriate level of capital required in respect of the 
various risks to which the Company is exposed, as identified, estimated, and evaluated by the 
Company. This target is higher than the minimum regulatory capital requirement, and includes the 
capital requirements with respect to Tier 1 risks, in addition to capital with respect to Pillar II risks 
and a capital “cushion” enabling the Company to withstand losses in the event of external crisis 
events (extreme scenarios), while complying with the minimum regulatory capital requirement. This 
target takes into account actions by the Management of the Company aimed at reducing the risk 
level and/or enlarging the capital base. 
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Capital Adequacy 

 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 

1. Capital for the calculation of the capital ratio 
 In NIS millions 
Core capital and Tier 1 capital 204 166 

Tier 2 capital* 56 56 

Total overall capital 260 222 
   

* Subordinated notes included in lower Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 50% of the Tier 1 capital not 
allocated to market risks, after the required deductions from Tier 1 capital only. 

 
2. Weighted balances of risk-adjusted assets 
 
 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 

Weighted 
balances 
of risk-

adjusted 
assets 

Capital 
requirement

Weighted 
balances 
of risk-

adjusted 
assets 

Capital 
requirement

 In NIS millions 

Credit risk 1,393 125 1,308 118 

Market risks – foreign currency exchange rate risk 4 *- 3 *- 

Operational risk  304 28 258 23 

Total weighted balances of risk-adjusted assets 1,701 153 1,569 141 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

 
3. Ratio of capital to risk-adjusted assets 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
 In percent 
Ratio of core capital and Tier 1 capital to risk-adjusted assets 12.0 10.6 

Ratio of total capital to risk-adjusted assets  15.3 14.1 

Minimum total capital ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 9.0 9.0 
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♦ Total core capital shall constitute at least 70% of Tier 1 capital, after the required deductions 
from the capital in this tier only. 

♦ Total Tier 2 capital and Tier 3 capital shall not exceed 100% of total Tier 1 capital, after the 
required deductions for the capital in this tier only. 

♦ Subordinated notes included in lower Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 50% of Tier 1 capital not 
allocated to market risks (to the extent that the banking corporation holds Tier 3 capital), after 
the required deductions from Tier 1 capital only. 

 

Structure of Capital 

Set out below is the composition of capital for the purpose of calculating the capital ratio. 

 
 December 31 

 2012 2011 

 In NIS millions 

Tier 1 capital    

Paid-up common share capital  *- *- 

Premium on shares 35 35 

Retained earnings   169 131 

Other capital instruments  *- *- 

Total core capital and Tier 1 capital**  204 166 

Tier 2 capital***  56 56 

Total eligible capital  260 222 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

** Subordinated notes included in lower Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 50% of the Tier 1 capital not 
allocated to market risks, after the required deductions from Tier 1 capital only. 

 

Capital Adequacy  

The Company applies the standardized approach to the assessment of its regulatory capital 
adequacy (with respect to credit risks, market risks, and operational risks). 

The Company performs an internal process of assessment of its capital adequacy, within which a 
multi-year plan has been created for attainment of the capital-adequacy objectives. This plan 
takes into consideration the Company’s present and future capital needs, according to its 
strategic plans, as compared to its available sources of capital. The plan addresses all present 
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Credit Risk – General Disclosure Requirements  

Pursuant to the directives of the Supervisor of Banks concerning the measurement and disclosure 
of impaired debts, credit risk, and the allowance for credit losses, and the amendment of the 
directives on the treatment of problematic debts, beginning on January 1, 2011, the Company has 
implemented the American accounting standards in this area (ASC 310) and the position 
statements of the bank supervision agencies in the United States and of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission in the United States, as adopted in the Public Reporting Directives. In 
addition, beginning on that date, the Company has implemented the directives of the Supervisor 
of Banks concerning the treatment of problematic debts. For further details, see Note 1.F.3 to the 
Financial Statements, below. 

 

Credit Risk Management  

Credit risk is one of the risks managed, monitored, and controlled by the Company, as a 
necessary characteristic of its activity as a company engaged in granting credit. The credit risk 
management process aids the Company in reviewing risk according to the component product 
mix.  

Activity of the Company in the area of credit-risk management: 

♦ The Company sets limits on the granting of credit , by risk rating, with segmentation by credit 
products (according to the products’ risk weighting), in order to prevent damage to the quality of 
the Company’s credit portfolio, thereby reducing credit risk arising from borrower quality.  

♦ The Company conducts internal controls of credit-risk management by assigning a risk 
weighting to each type of credit product, according to its derived risk. For example, in certain 
cases, references are made to the type of product sold by the merchant and to its supply 
times; the longer the supply time of the product, the higher the probability of a failure to 
deliver the product to the customer.  

♦ The Company sets sectoral limits in order to prevent sectoral concentration in the credit 
portfolio. 

♦ The Company acts in accordance with the guidelines of the Bank of Israel in Directive No. 313, 
Limits on the Indebtedness of a Single Borrower and of a Group of Borrowers. Working 
according to this directive and setting internal limits reduces borrower concentration risk. 

♦ The Company has set internal limits on its exposure to financial institutions, in congruence with 
the risk appetite approved by the Board of Directors. 

♦ The Company monitors and supervises transactions with related persons, in accordance with 
Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 312, and files reports pursuant to Directive 
No. 815. 

♦ The Company tracks damages arising from the abuse of credit cards. See Note 20 to the 
Financial Statements. 
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♦ Defined hierarchy of authority for the establishment of the interest rate for the credit. 

 

Exposure to Financial Institutions 

The Company’s operations involve exposure to financial institutions, in Israel and globally: 

♦ International credit-card company – Cross-clearing activity occurs between the Company and 
the international credit-card company.  

♦ Banks in Israel – Credit-card activity under the responsibility of banks is conducted with 
customers’ accounts at Israeli banks. In addition, deposits and hedging transactions create 
exposure to the bank with which the transaction was executed. 

♦ Foreign financial institutions – Activity with overseas entities or activity by foreigners in Israel: 
deposits of foreign currency with financial institutions abroad. The Company's exposure is 
immaterial. 

♦ The Company routinely monitors these exposures and reports exceptions from limits. 

 

Credit exposure to financial institutions results from: 

♦ Transactions in credit cards issued by banks with which the Company has arrangements – the 
exposure is formed when the Company uses its own funds to finance the time gap between the 
date of crediting the merchant and the date of transfer of the payments by the Banks Under 
Arrangement. If a bank becomes insolvent, there is a risk that the funds may not be transferred 
to the Company, which would then absorb the losses. 

♦ Deposits with banks – deposits performed by the Company with banks create an automatic 
exposure to such banks. 

 

Independent Supervision 

The Chief Risk Officer maintains independent supervision of the manner in which credit risks are 
managed at the Company. This supervision includes: 

♦ Checking compliance with credit policy directives and with the instructions of the Bank of Israel. 

♦ Active involvement in establishing credit policy, including credit limits. Control over the 
implementation of credit policy. 

♦ Identifying new risks and emerging risks. 

♦ Reporting the results of the monitoring to senior management and to the Board of Directors. 

♦ Monitoring risk-assessment models. 
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Credit Exposures 

The following tables present details of credit exposure by risk weightings, with segmentation of 
the exposure by counterparty (segment), before and after credit-risk mitigation. 

 

Gross credit risk exposures, by principal type of credit exposure (before deducting the 
provision for credit losses): 
 
 December 31, 2012 
 

Balance-sheet credit risk 
Off-balance-sheet 

credit risk 
 

Type of exposure  Credit 
Deposits/ 

other 
Total balance-

sheet credit risk 
Credit 

facilities Other 
Total overall 

credit exposure 

 In NIS millions 
Banking corporations 391 13 404 - - 404 

Corporations 286 - 286 840 - 1,126 

Retail to individuals 1,405 - 1,405 7,257 - 8,662 

Small businesses 52 - 52 134 - 186 

Government  *- - *- 1 - 1 

Other assets(1) - 12 12 - - 12 

Total exposures  2,134 25 2,159 8,232 - 10,391 
 

 
 
 December 31, 2011 
 Balance-sheet credit risk Off-balance-sheet credit risk 

Total overall 
credit exposureType of exposure  Credit 

Deposits/ 
other 

Total balance-
sheet credit risk

Credit 
facilities Other 

 In NIS millions 
Banking corporations 330 25 355 - - 355 
Corporations 95 - 95 160 - 255 
Retail to individuals 1,254 - 1,254 7,496 - 8,750 
Small businesses 244 - 244 818 - 1,062 
Government  *- - *- 2 - 2 
Other assets(1) - 10 10 - - 10 
Total exposures  1,923 35 1,958 8,476 - 10,434 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

(1) Includes fixed assets and others. 
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Segmentation of the Portfolio by Remaining Contractual Term to Maturity 

The following table shows details of gross credit exposure (before deducting the provision for 
credit losses) by contractual term to maturity (the last period), according to the principal types of 
financial instruments. 

 

 December 31, 2012 
 Classified by term to maturity, in NIS millions 
 

 
Balance-sheet 

balance 

 
Up to 1 

year 
1 year to 2 

years 
2 years to 

3 years 
Total cash 

flows 
No maturity 

period Total 
Cash on hand and deposits with banks  13 - - 13 - 13 
Credit:        
Debtors in respect of credit cards  1,620 62 13 1,695 (1) 1,692 
Credit to merchants  30 *- *- 30 2 32 
International credit-card organization  17 - - 17 - 17 
Income receivable and others  3 - - 3 - 3 
Other assets 390 - - 390 8 398 
Non-monetary assets - - - - 4 4 
Off balance sheet – credit facilities  8,209 23 - 8,232 - 8,232 
Total  10,282 85 13 10,380 13 10,391 
 
 
 

 December 31, 2011 
 Classified by term to maturity, in NIS millions 
 

 
Balance-sheet 

balance 

 
Up to 1 

year 
1 year to 2 

years 
2 years to 

3 years 
Total cash 

flows 
No maturity 

period Total 
Cash on hand and deposits with banks  25 - - 25 - 25 
Credit:        
Debtors in respect of credit cards  1,470 56 12 1,538 2 1,540 
Credit to merchants  28 *- *- 28 - 28 
International credit-card organization  24 - - 24 - 24 
Income receivable  2 - - 2 - 2 
Other assets 330 - - 330 6 336 
Non-monetary assets - - - - 3 3 
Off balance sheet – credit facilities  8,437 39 - 8,476 - 8,476 
Total  10,316 95 12 10,423 11 10,434 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM) 

Amounts of exposure, before/after credit-risk mitigation, according to the standardized 
approach 

Credit Risk Weighting 

The following table presents details of credit exposure (after deduction of the provision for credit 
losses, by risk weights). 

 

Before credit-risk mitigation 
 December 31, 2012 

 Rating 0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% 
Credit 

exposure
 In NIS millions 
Retail to individuals Unrated - - - 8,649 - 1 8,650 
Small businesses Unrated  - - - 186 - *- 186 
Corporations Unrated - - - - 1,124 *- 1,124 

Rated  - - - - *- - *- 
Banking corporations Unrated - 391 1 - - - 392 

Rated  - *- 12 - - - 12 
Government  Rated  1 - - - - - 1 
Other assets Unrated  - - - - 12 - 12 
Total   1 391 13 8,835 1,136 1 10,377 

 

 

After credit risk mitigation 
 December 31, 2012 

 Rating 0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% 
Credit 

exposure
 In NIS millions 
Retail to individuals Unrated - - - 2,408 - 1 2,409 
Small businesses Unrated  - - - 34 - *- 34 
Corporations Unrated - - - - 171 *- 171 

Rated  - - - - - - - 
Banking corporations Unrated - 653 1,967 - - - 2,620 

Rated  - 429 4,701 - - - 5,130 
Government  Rated  1 - - - - - 1 
Other assets Unrated  - - - - 12 - 12 
Total   1 1,082 6,668 2,442 183 1 10,377 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Use of Eligible Collateral for Credit Risk Mitigation 

The following table lists the types of exposures used and the exposures covered (after deduction 
of the allowance for credit losses). 

 
 December 31, 2012 

Exposure  Credit risk 
Type of 

exposure 

Gross 
credit 
risk 

exposure

Exposure covered 
under the responsibility 

of the Banks Under 
Arrangement 

Net credit 
risk 

exposure

    

Total 
amounts 

subtracted

Total 
amounts 

added  
 In NIS millions 
Retail to individuals Balance sheet Credit  1,397 (1,106) - 291 

 Off balance sheet Credit facility 7,253 (5,135) - 2,118 

Small businesses Balance sheet Credit  52 (45) - 7 

 Off balance sheet Credit facility 134 (107) - 27 

Corporations Balance sheet Credit  284 (206) - 78 

 Off balance sheet Credit facility 840 (747) - 93 

Banking corporations Balance sheet Credit  391 - 1,357 1,748 

 Balance sheet Deposits  13 - - 13 

 Off balance sheet Credit facility - - 5,989 5,989 

Government  Balance sheet Credit   *- - - *- 

 Off balance sheet Credit facility 1 - - 1 

Other assets Balance sheet Other assets 12 - - 12 

Total    10,377 (7,346) 7,346 10,377 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Credit Risk Weighting 

The Company implements the standardized approach to determine risk weightings to apply to the 
counterparty. The standardized approach requires the use of independent ratings by international 
rating agencies. 

 

Credit rating agencies used: 
 

Credit rating agency  Used for 

Moody’s Corporations, banks  

S&P Corporations, banks  

Fitch  Banks  

Adjustment of each agency’s scale to risk groups: The Company uses standard mapping.  

 

Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM) 

The Company has repayment sources (means of repayment of customers’ debts) which are not 
recognized under Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives 201-211 (Capital Measurement 
and Adequacy) for the purpose of minimizing credit risks, in the calculation of the capital 
allocation required according to the standardized approach. However, in its routine operations the 
Company considers these repayment sources as existing permanent flows, and uses them to 
manage credit risks (for risk management purposes, rather than for capital allocation). No 
collateral exists against non-bank credit to cardholders 

Corporate credit is mainly based on the turnover of the merchant, and the credits owed to it serve 
as the repayment source for cases in which the credit is not repaid. This activity is conducted in 
accordance with credit policies. The amount of the credit is established according to the rating of 
the merchant, the type of credit product, and the turnover of the merchant. 

In order to calculate the capital allocation of the Company against credit risks, the Company uses 
agreements signed with the Banks Under Arrangement as a means of credit risk mitigation (CRM), 
using the simple approach, such that the credit risk of the cardholder is replaced by the credit risk of 
the bank under the arrangement. 

 

General Disclosure Regarding Exposures Related to Counterparty Credit Risk 

Hedging Interest-Rate Exposures 

The financial activity of the Company is usually characterized by a parallel between the average 
duration of assets and liabilities (mainly short-term); i.e. customers' activity ("debtors in respect of 
credit cards") versus liabilities to merchants ("creditors in respect of credit-card activity"). 
However, the Company also extends credit for the medium term (usually up to one year, and 
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♦ Procedures and policies – The areas of responsibility and authority in the area of risk 
management assigned to Management, the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, the Risk 
Management Committee, and specialized functions such as the Risk Manager are formalized 
in clear, accessible documentation, with the aim of ensuring uniform implementation in the 
organization. 

♦ Risk management processes – Processes are in place for the routine identification of 
exposures, risk assessment, examination of controls, and risk minimization processes 
(including limits).  

♦ Tools and technologies – A computerized system supporting risk assessment, risk 
management, reporting, monitoring, and planning. 

♦ Reporting and monitoring of risks – Reports from each business line of the Company to the 
central Market and Liquidity Risk Management Unit in a structured process, in which exposures 
are reported to Management and to the Board of Directors; proper intra-organizational 
communication channels ensure timely reporting of issues that need to be addressed. 

For the purpose of the control and management of market and liquidity risk, the Financial 
Management Unit in the Finance and Administration Division, under the authority of the Head of 
Market and Liquidity Risk, works to identify, measure, monitor, and report on market and liquidity 
risks, in practice, on a routine basis. 

 

Structure and Organization of Market Risk Management Function 

The market risk management system of the Company is based on an integrative system for the 
management of exposures, composed of the following functions. 

 

Market Risk Manager 

The Head of Finance and Administration is the manager of market risks at the Company. Within 
this framework, he is responsible for the formulation, implementation, and absorption of a 
comprehensive policy for the management of all market and liquidity risks to which the Company 
is exposed (currency, CPI, interest rate, securities, liquidity), including: 

♦ Responsibility for financial exposures at the Company, subject to limits approved by the Board 
of Directors. 

♦ Procedures for monitoring and control on matters related to exposure management. 

♦ Conducting a biweekly financial meeting to formulate activity in the area of market and liquidity 
risks (the investment committee). 

♦ Monthly reports on market and liquidity risk to the Board of Directors.  

♦ Management of foreign currency risks, including decisions regarding hedging of long-term 
foreign currency exposures. 
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an exception from the limits established is identified, the exposure is reduced by considering 
fixed-rate credit granting activity and considering the purchase of interest-rate hedging 
transactions. 

 

Foreign Currency Exposure Management 

Transactions are hedged using derivative and other financial instruments at banks. The 
Company’s policy is to bring foreign currency exposure to zero. However, immaterial exposures 
form as a result of differences in timing between the transaction date and the settlement date in 
foreign-currency transactions. The Company monitors these differences and buys and sells 
foreign currency in order to hedge the exposure. 

 

Capital Requirement in Respect of Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 

 
 Capital requirement 

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 In NIS millions 

Market risks – Foreign currency exchange rate risk** *- *- 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

**  Specific risk arising from the surplus of assets over liabilities in the foreign-currency-linked segment, 
weighted by the percentage of the capital requirement (9%). 

 

Operational Risk  

Operational risk is managed by the members of Management at the Company, each with regard 
to the area for which he or she is responsible. The Head of Risks and Security at the Company is 
responsible for independent supervision of the management of risks at the Company (second 
level). The management of operational risks at the Company is intended to minimize losses by 
establishing orderly processes aimed at reducing the operational risks to which the Company is 
exposed. In this process, authority and responsibility frameworks are established, and a culture of 
operational risk management is instilled in all managers and employees.  
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♦ Mapping of all controls relevant to each risk, including residual risk, and additional 
recommended controls if necessary. 

♦ Rating of risk levels in each process on a scale of the level of damage / expected frequency. 

♦ Implementation of a multi-year action plan to reduce material risks and increase controls where 
necessary. 

 

Each quarter, the Chief Risk Officer reports to Management and the Board of Directors on 
operational risks, as follows: 

♦ Material damage events and consequent actions taken. 

♦ New operational processes at a high level of risk and actions taken to increase controls and 
minimize risk. 

♦ Approval of changes in operational risk policy. 

 

All events of damage at the Company are collected into a single database. All material events 
(the materiality threshold as at December 2011 is NIS 10,000) are reported on a quarterly basis to 
Management and the Board of Directors. The events are analyzed in order to ensure that a 
relevant operational process exists and that the existing controls are sufficient in order to reduce 
the risk of an additional event. If necessary, additional controls are added to the process. 

 

Material operational risks are mitigated by: 

♦ Adding controls for identification and prevention, according to risk level. 

♦ Acquiring appropriate insurance, including property insurance, professional liability insurance, 
and insurance against fraud, embezzlement, and computer crimes. 

 

Disclosure Regarding Share Holdings in the Banking Book 

From time to time, the Company invests in areas synergetic with its operations and/or 
complementary to its core activity. These investments are of a strategic nature, and are not 
performed as financial holdings. According to the Company’s policies, the Company does not 
perform securities trading. 
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Critical Accounting Policies 

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles in Israel and in accordance with the directives and guidelines of the 
Supervisor of Banks, the main points of which are described in Note 1 to the Financial 
Statements, "Significant Accounting Policies," in the section concerning the implementation of 
accounting principles. When preparing the financial statements, the Management of the Company 
uses assumptions, estimates, and evaluations that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities (including contingent liabilities), and the results reported by the Company. Some of 
these estimates and evaluations involve uncertainty, and may be affected by possible future 
changes. 

The Management of the Company is of the opinion that the estimates and evaluations applied 
during the preparation of the financial statements are fair, and were made to the best of its 
knowledge and professional judgment, as at the date of preparation of the financial statements. 

The following are the main areas in which estimates and evaluations were used, and which 
accordingly are considered by the Company to be critical accounting matters. 

 

Provision for Gift Offers (Loyalty Program) for Credit-Card Holders  

The provision made in the books represents a provision at a rate of approximately 85% of the 
balance of unutilized points as at the end of 2012. 

The calculation of the provision for the loyalty program is based on the following assumption: 

Price of points – based on the actual average cost per point as at the end of the year. 

The provision made in the books in respect of unutilized points as at December 31, 2012 is NIS 
49 million (December 31, 2011: NIS 41 million). 

 

Allowance for Credit Losses 

The Company has established procedures for the classification of credit and the measurement of 
the allowance for credit losses, in order to maintain an allowance at an appropriate level to cover 
estimated credit losses in respect of its credit portfolio. In addition, the Company has established 
the necessary procedures in order to maintain a provision, in a separate liability account, at an 
appropriate level to cover estimated credit losses in connection with off-balance-sheet credit 
instruments (such as unutilized credit facilities and guarantees).  

The allowance to cover estimated credit losses with respect to the credit portfolio is assessed by 
one of two methods: “individual allowance” and “collective allowance.” The Company also 
examines the overall fairness of the allowance for credit losses.  

Individual allowance for credit losses – The Company individually examines all debts with a 
contractual balance (excluding allowances for credit losses, and without deducting charge-offs that 
do not involve an accounting waiver) of NIS 500 thousand or more. Individual allowances for credit 
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Discussion of Risk Factors 

The main risk factors to which the Company is exposed have been mapped. This mapping and 
the assessment of the risks and of the effects thereof are subjective estimates by the 
Management of the Company. 

 

Risk factor  Brief description  
Degree of effect 
of risk factor 

1.  Overall effect of 
credit risks  

Risk arising from borrowers' failure to fulfill their 
obligations to the Company. Deterioration in the stability 
of the various borrowers may have an adverse effect on 
the Company's asset value and profitability. To minimize 
this risk, the Company has a defined credit policy and 
exposure limits with regard to borrowers/sectors in the 
various segments of activity, by risk level. 

 

Low  

1.1.  Risk in respect 
of the quality of 
borrowers and 
collateral  

Deterioration in the quality of borrowers and in the value 
of collateral provided to the Company to secure credit 
may have an adverse effect on the probability of 
collecting the credit. The Company has a credit policy and 
exposure limits with regard to different types of borrowers 
in the various segments of activity and products, and a 
process is in place for the control of compliance with 
these limits. 

 

Medium 

1.2.  Risk in respect 
of sectoral 
concentration  

Risk arising from a high volume of credit granted to 
borrowers belonging to a particular sector of the 
economy. Deterioration in business activity in such an 
economic sector may lead to damage to repayment 
capability and to the value of collateral provided by some 
borrowers belonging to the sector.  

  

Low 

1.3.  Risk in respect 
of concentration 
of borrowers/ 
borrower 
groups  

Present or future risk arising from deterioration in the 
condition of a large borrower or group of borrowers 
relative to the credit portfolio, which may cause an 
adverse effect on the probability of collecting the credit. 
The Bank of Israel has set limits on the maximum 
exposure to borrowers and groups of borrowers, and a 
routine process is in place for the control of compliance 
with these limits. 

 

Low  
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Risk factor  Brief description  
Degree of effect 
of risk factor 

7.  Competition  The credit-card industry in Israel is characterized by a 
high level of competition, both in the area of bank cards 
and in the area of non-bank cards, as reflected in the loss 
of customers or reduction of customers' activity volumes, 
or the termination of the contractual engagement with one 
of the Banks Under Arrangement, and entails extensive, 
constant investments in customer recruitment and 
retention (cardholders and merchants).  

 

Medium    

8.  Regulation and 
legislation  

Present or future risk to the Company's revenue and 
capital arising from legislation and/or directives of various 
regulatory agencies that cause changes to the 
Company's business environment. Such changes may 
occasionally influence the Company's activity, revenue, 
and ability to offer certain services, and/or may obligate 
the Company to carry out technological and other 
investments at considerable cost, while disrupting 
schedules for development of other planned services. 
Also see the section "Restrictions and Supervision of the 
Company's Operations," above.   

 

Medium   

9.  Strategic risk  The risk of damage to the Company’s profit and capital as 
a result of business decisions and/or the implementation 
of business decisions. Strategic risk is influenced by 
external and internal risk factors.  
 

Medium  

10.  Cessation of 
operation of a 
bank in Israel  

The cessation of operation of a bank in Israel, in particular 
one of the Banks Under Arrangement, including due to 
collapse as a result of insolvency, could lead to a situation 
in which that bank is unable to meet its obligations under 
its agreements with the Company, and may lead to a 
situation in which the Company is unable to fully or 
partially collect debits owed to it by customers of the 
relevant bank. 

  

Medium  
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6. Legal claims; 

7. Damage to reputation. 

In the opinion of the Company, the extent of the effect of information security and cyber attack 
risks is moderate. 
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Directors, the Audit Committee, Company management officials, and regulators. Material changes 
to the work plan are discussed and approved by the Audit Committee and by the Board of 
Directors. 

Auditing resources – 56 audit days were invested directly at the Company in 2012. In addition, 
activities outsourced by the Company to its sister company Isracard Ltd. are audited within the 
internal audit at that company. The volume of resources in internal auditing is determined 
according to the multi-year work plan, which is based on a risk survey. 

Remuneration – Mr. Orbach was not remunerated by the Company. Auditing is supplied through 
outsourcing, and the Company pays the Bank for the internal auditing services based on the 
number of work days of the auditors. In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the aforesaid 
payments are not such that they would affect the professional judgment of the Internal Auditor. 

Performing the audit – Internal Audit at the Company operates under laws, regulations, directives 
and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks (including Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 
307, The Internal Audit Function, which took effect on July 1, 2012), professional standards, 
professional guidelines of the Institute of Internal Auditors in Israel, and guidelines of the Audit 
Committee and of the Board of Directors.  

Having examined the Internal Audit work plan and the actual execution of said plan, the Board of 
Directors and the Audit Committee believe that the Company’s internal auditing complies with the 
requirements established in the professional standards and in the directives of the Supervisor of 
Banks. 

Access to information – Internal Audit has unrestricted access to all information at the Company, 
including constant unmediated access to the Company’s information systems, including financial 
data, as necessary to perform its duties. 

Internal Auditor’s report – Internal Audit reports, including periodic reports, are submitted in 
writing. Audit reports are submitted to the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, the Chairperson 
of the Audit Committee, and the CEO of the Company, and are also distributed to the members of 
the Audit Committee. Audit reports are discussed by the Audit Committee. 

Summary of Internal Audit activity – A summary of audit activities for 2011 was submitted to the 
Audit Committee in March 2012, and discussed by the committee on July 2, 2012. A summary of 
audit activities for 2012 is expected to be submitted to the Audit Committee during the first quarter 
of 2013. 

Evaluation of the activity of the Internal Auditor by the Board of Directors – In the opinion of 
the Board of Directors and of the Audit Committee, the volume, nature, continuity of activity, and 
work plan of Internal Audit are reasonable under the circumstances, and are sufficient to realize the 
Company’s internal auditing objectives. 
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The Board of Directors 

In 2012, the Board of Directors of the Company continued to set forth the Company’s strategy, 
policy, and the guiding principles for its activity, and established guidelines on various matters, in 
accordance with the requirements of legislative updates and in accordance with Directive 301 of 
the Bank of Israel.  

The Board of Directors addressed the approval of the quarterly and annual financial statements 
(further to the discussion and recommendations of the Audit Committee); the organizational 
structure of the Company; establishment of policy on manpower, salaries, retirement terms, and 
the remuneration system for employees and senior executives; and supervision and control over 
ongoing business operations executed by Management and the congruence of these operations 
with the policies of the Company. 

The plenum and committees – The Audit Committee and the Credit Committee held detailed 
discussions of the various aspects of the Company's activity. 

15 meetings of the plenum of the Board of Directors and 10 meetings of the Audit Committee 
were held in 2012. 

 

Directors with Accounting and Financial Expertise  

Pursuant to the Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the Company must 
specify the minimum number of directors with "accounting and financial expertise" which it has 
determined should serve on the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee. The Board of 
Directors of the Company has determined that the appropriate minimum number of directors with 
accounting and financial expertise on the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee is two. 

Note that at the reporting date, the number of directors with accounting and financial expertise, 
according to their education, qualifications, and experience, is six. The number of directors on the 
Audit Committee with accounting and financial expertise, according to their education, skills, and 
experience, is two. 

 

Members of the Board 

Irit Izakson  Chairperson of the Company from December 2008. Chairperson of the 
Credit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company. 

Also serves as Chairperson of Isracard, Europay, and Aminit; 
Chairperson of the Credit Committee of the Board of Directors of 
Isracard; and member of the Credit Committee of the Board of Directors 
of Aminit. 

Member of the Board of Directors of Bank Hapoalim from December 27, 
1999. 

Chairperson of the following Board Committees at Bank Hapoalim: the 
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Credit Committee of the Board of Directors of Aminit; member of the 
balance sheet, audit, and remuneration committees of the board of 
directors of Mehadrin Ltd. 

In the last five years or during part of that period, served as head of 
human resources and special consultant at the BSG Investments 
Group; member of the governing board of the Bank of Israel and head of 
human resources and administration; and a consultant to companies in 
the area of human resources for mergers and acquisitions and global 
systems. 

Previously served as VP of human resources at Amdocs, and served in 
a series of positions at Bank Hapoalim B.M.: head of the Planning, 
Research, and Development Department; head of the Human 
Resources Management Department; and various positions in the areas 
of training, operations, and human resources. 

B.A. in Sociology and Education Administration, Tel Aviv University; M.A. 
studies in the Department of Labor Studies at Tel Aviv University, 
specialized in human resources management and organizational 
development. 

Courses in banking and management at Bank Hapoalim. 

Various courses and seminars in the areas of option plans, mergers and 
acquisitions, integration processes, and strategy, at E&Y, Mercer, and 
Harvard University. 

To the best of the knowledge of the Company and of Mr. A. Idelson, he 
is not a family member of another interested party of the corporation. 

 

Ofer Levy Member of the Board of Management of Bank Hapoalim B.M. from May 
1, 2006. 

Deputy CEO and Chief Accountant at Bank Hapoalim B.M. 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Company from September 13, 
1995; member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the 
Company. 

Also a member of the board of directors of the following companies: 
AMI Trustees Ltd., Yefet Nominees Ltd. 

C.P.A. 

B.A. in Accounting and Economics, Tel Aviv University. 

Director with accounting and financial expertise. 
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Ran Oz Member of the Board of Management of Bank Hapoalim B.M. from April 
16, 2009. 

Head of Finance, CFO at the Bank. 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Company from June 25, 2009. 
Chairperson of the Wage and Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company; member of the Risk Management Committee 
of the Board of Directors. 

Chairperson of the board of directors of the following companies: Diur 
B.P. Ltd., Poalim Trust Services Ltd. 

Deputy chairperson of the board of directors of the following 
companies: Poalim Capital Markets and Investment Holdings Ltd., 
Poalim Capital Markets Ltd., and Poalim Capital Markets - Investment 
House Ltd. 

Member of the board of directors of the following companies: Sure-Ha 
International Ltd., Isracard Ltd., Europay (Eurocard) Israel Ltd., Aminit 
Ltd., and Poalim Express Ltd. 

From 2008 to 2009, CFO of Intouch Insurance BV. 

From 2007 to 2008, Deputy CEO and CFO at Bezeq the Israel 
Telecommunications Corp. Ltd. 

From 2004 to 2007, CFO and Corporate VP at Nice Systems Ltd. 

 M.A. in Economics and Business Administration, Hebrew University of 
Jerusalem; B.A. in Accounting and Economics, Hebrew University of 
Jerusalem. 

C.P.A. 

Director with accounting and financial expertise. 

To the best of the knowledge of the Company and of Mr. R. Oz, he is 
not a family member of another interested party of the corporation. 

 

Rafi Rafael  Southern Region Manager, Bank Hapoalim B.M., from September 2011. 

Until September 2011, Negev Region Manager, Bank Hapoalim B.M. 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Company from May 25, 1998. 

Member of the Credit Committee of the Board of Directors of the 
Company. 
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External director of the Company under Proper Conduct of Banking 
Business Directive No. 301 of the Supervisor of Banks. 

Member of the board of directors of the following companies: Isracard 
and Europay; member of the audit committees of these companies from 
May 29, 2012. 

M.B.A., School of Business Administration, Tel Aviv University; B.A. in 
Economics, Tel Aviv University. 

Director with accounting and financial expertise. 

To the best of the knowledge of the Company and of Ms. N. Adawi, she 
is not a family member of another interested party of the corporation. 

 

 

Senior Members of Management  

Dov Kotler Chief Executive Officer of the Company from February 1, 2009. 

CEO of the following credit-card companies: Isracard, Europay, and 
Aminit. 

Chairperson of the board of directors of the following companies: 
Tzameret Mimunim, Isracard (Nechasim) 1994, and Isracard Mimun. 

Member of the board of directors of the following companies: Global 
Factoring Ltd., Amir Marketing and Investments in Agriculture Ltd., and 
H.E.O.H. Management Services Ltd. 

Also a member of the executive board of the Round Up Foundation. 

 M.B.A., Finance Section, Tel Aviv University; B.A. in Economics, studies 
in International Relations, Tel Aviv University; AMP (Advanced 
Management Program), Harvard University. 

To the best of the knowledge of the Company and of Mr. D. Kotler, he is 
not a family member of another interested party of the corporation. 

  

Ronen Zaretsky Member of the Management of the Company from December 18, 2005. 

Head of Technology. 

Served in the computer units of the IDF, most recently as commander of 
the IDF Manpower Computing Center, and held the rank of Colonel. 
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Serves as a member of the board of directors of the following 
companies: Tzameret Mimunim Ltd., Global Factoring Ltd., Kidum 
Mivne Iguach Ltd. 

Served as Head of Customer Relations in the Corporate Banking Area 
at Bank Hapoalim B.M., for ten years. His clients included leading 
companies in the Israeli retail market. 

M.A. in Business Administration, Marketing, and Finance, Hebrew 
University of Jerusalem; B.A. in Economics and International Relations, 
Hebrew University of Jerusalem. 

To the best of the knowledge of the Company and of Mr. R. Cohen, he 
is not a family member of another interested party of the corporation. 

  

Oren Cohen Butensky Member of Management of the Company from June 2011. 

Head of Customer and Merchant Service. 

Member of the Board of Directors of Tzameret Mimunim from April 4, 
2012. 

Previously served as head of sales at the sales company of MIRS 
Communications, SDM, and as head of Internet support centers at 012. 

M.A. in Business and Marketing, Derby University; B.A. in Economics 
and Social Sciences, Bar Ilan University; B.A. in Psychology, Open 
University. 

To the best of the knowledge of the Company and of Mr. A. Cohen 
Butensky, he is not a family member of another interested party of the 
corporation. 

  

Ram Gev Member of the Management of the Company from the end of March 
2011. 

Head of Finance and Administration. 

Serves as a member of the board of directors of the following 
companies: Isracard (Nechasim) 1994 and Isracard Mimun. 

Served as head of finance at Harel Finance until March 2011. 
Previously served as deputy manager of the corporate department at 
the Israel Securities Authority. 

M.B.A. (specialized in finance), Hebrew University of Jerusalem; B.A. in 
Accounting and Economics, Hebrew University of Jerusalem. 
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Controls and Procedures Regarding Disclosure and the Company’s Internal Controls 
over Financial Reporting 

In accordance with the Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Accountant of the Company must each separately sign a declaration 
regarding their responsibility for the establishment and application of controls and procedures 
concerning disclosure and the Company's internal control over financial reporting, pursuant to the 
provisions of Sections 302 and 404 of the law known as the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act,” enacted in the 
United States. The provisions of these two sections of the law were consolidated by the 
Supervisor of Banks in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive 309 in September 2008, 
and the Public Reporting Directives were adjusted accordingly in June 2009. 

The two directives of the aforesaid law have been implemented at the Company since their 
inception dates: 

♦ The directive in Section 302 regarding the responsibility for the establishment and application 
of controls and procedures concerning disclosure has been implemented quarterly beginning 
with the financial statements as at June 30, 2007. 

♦ The directive in Section 404 regarding the responsibility for the Company's internal control of 
financial reporting has been implemented at year end, beginning with the financial statements 
as at December 31, 2008. 

The Company routinely updates and documents existing processes; maps and documents 
processes, including material new processes; and examines the effectiveness of the procedures 
for internal control of financial reporting through renewed examinations of the main controls. 

 

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures Regarding Disclosure 

The Management of the Company, in cooperation with the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Accountant of the Company, has assessed the effectiveness of the controls and procedures 
regarding disclosure at the Company from the end of the period covered by this report. Based on 
this assessment, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Accountant of the Company have 
concluded that, as at the end of this period, the controls and procedures regarding disclosure at 
the Company are effective in order to record, process, summarize, and report the information 
which the Company is required to disclose in its annual report, in accordance with the Public 
Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of Banks, on the date stipulated in these directives. 

 

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

During the fourth quarter ended on December 31, 2012, there was no change in the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting that had a material impact, or could reasonably be 
expected to have a material impact, on the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting. 
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Balance Sheets – Multi-Period Data 

Addendum 1 
Reported amounts 

NIS millions 
 
 December 31 
 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 
Assets  
Cash on hand and deposits with banks 13 25 205 195 189 
Debtors in respect of credit-card activity  1,744 1,594 1,492(1)(2) 1,243(1)(2) 1,074(1)(2)

Allowance for credit losses (10) (7) (8)(1)(2) (9)(1)(2) (8)(1)(2)

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net  1,734 1,587 1,484 1,234 1,066 
      
Computers and equipment 2 2 1 1 1 
Other assets  400 337 88(3) 4 5 
Total assets  2,149 1,951 1,778 1,434 1,261 
 
Liabilities  

   
  

Credit from banking corporations  4 1 2 6 2 
Creditors in respect of credit-card activity  1,868 1,708(3) 1,566(3) 1,307(3) 1,183(3) 
Subordinated notes  56 58 56 25 - 
Other liabilities  17 18(3) 12(3) 11(3) 14(3) 
Total liabilities  1,945 1,785 1,636 1,349 1,199 
      
Capital  204 166 142 85 62 
Total liabilities and capital  2,149 1,951 1,778 1,434 1,261 

 

*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

(1) On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted the directive of the Supervisor of Banks concerning the 
measurement and disclosure of impaired debts, credit risk, and provision for credit losses, for the first 
time. Comparative figures for previous years were not restated; the data as at December 31, 2011 are 
therefore not comparable with the data marked (1). For further explanations of the effect of the initial 
adoption of this directive, see Note 1.F.3. to the Financial Statements. 

(2) The data were reclassified in order to match the item headings and presentation method for the current 
period. See Note 1.D to the Financial Statements.  

(3) Reclassified. 
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Rates of Income and Expenses 

Addendum 3 
 

Unlinked Israeli Currency  
 For the year ended December 31, 2012 

 Average balance(1) 
Financing income 

(expenses) 
Rate of income 

(expenses 

 In NIS millions In percent 

Assets  1,996 8 0.40 

Total assets  1,996 8 0.40 

    

Liabilities  1,800 (2) (0.11) 

Total liabilities  1,800 (2) (0.11) 

Interest-rate gap    0.29 

 
CPI-Linked Israeli Currency  
 For the year ended December 31, 2012 

 Average balance(1) 
Financing income 

(expenses) 
Rate of income 

(expenses) 

 In NIS millions In percent 

Assets 6 - - 

Total assets  6 - - 

    

Liabilities  7 - - 

Total liabilities  7 - - 

Interest-rate gap    - 

 

(1) Based on balances at the start of each month, before deducting the average balance-sheet balance of 
the allowance for credit losses. 

 

Note: Full data regarding the rates of income and expenses in each segment, by balance-sheet 
item, will be provided upon request. 
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Rates of Income and Expenses (cont.) 

Addendum 3 (cont.) 

 

Total 
 For the year ended December 31, 2012 

 
Average 

balance(1) 

Financing 
income 

(expenses) 

Rate of 
income 

(expenses) 

 In NIS millions In percent 

Monetary assets generating financing income 2,066 8 0.39 

Total assets 2,066 8 0.39 

    

Monetary liabilities generating financing expenses 1,868 (2) (0.11) 

Total liabilities 1,868 (2) (0.11) 

Interest-rate gap   0.28 

    

Profit from financing activity in the old format(2)    6  

Net rate differences   (*-)  
Fees from financing business and other financing 

expenses  1  
Net interest income before provision for credit 

losses  7  

Provision for credit losses   (6)  

Net interest income after provision for credit losses   1  
 
 
* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

(1) Based on balances at the start of each month, before deducting the average balance-sheet balance of 
the allowance for credit losses. 

(2) See Note 1.E.1 to the Financial Statements. 

 

Note: Full data regarding the rates of income and expenses in each segment, by balance-sheet 
item, will be provided upon request. 
 
 
  



 

 

Poalim Exp

Rates of

Addendu

Reported 

 

Total 
 

 

 

Monetary a

Other mon

Allowance 

Total asse

 

Monetary l

Other mon

Total liabi

 

Total surp

Non-mone

Non-mone

 

Total capi
 

(1) Based
the al

 

Note: Ful
item, will b
 

 

press Ltd. 

f Income a

um 3 (con

amounts 

assets gener

netary assets

for credit los

ets  

iabilities gen

netary liabilitie

lities  

plus of mone

etary assets 

etary liabilities

tal means  

d on balance
lowance for c

ll data rega
be provided

and Expen

t.) 

rating financi

 

sses 

nerating finan

es 

etary assets

s  

es at the star
credit losses

arding the r
d upon requ

 

nses (cont

ng income 

ncing expens

s over mone

rt of each m
. 

ates of inco
est. 

| 110 | 

.) 

es 

tary liabilitie

onth, before 

ome and ex

For the 

Average

In NIS m

2,0

2,0

1,8

1,8

es  1

1

deducting th

xpenses in 

year ended

e balance(1) 

millions 

066 

8 

(8) 

066 

 

868 

17 

885 

 

181 

4 

1 

 

184 

he average b

each segm

 December 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

balance-shee

ment, by ba

31, 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

et balance o

lance-sheet

f 

t 



 
Report as at December 31, 2012 

 

 | 111 |                                        Management Review 
   

Rates of Income and Expenses (cont.) 

Addendum 3 (cont.) 
 

Foreign Currency – Nominal in USD 
 For the year ended December 31, 2012 

 Average balance(1) 
Financing income 

(expenses) 
Rate of income 

(expenses) 

 In USD millions In percent 

Assets(2)   17 *- - 

Total assets  17 *- - 

    

Liabilities(2)   16 *- - 

Total liabilities  16 *- - 

Interest-rate gap    - 

 
* Amount lower than USD 0.5 million.  

(1) Based on balances at the start of each month, before deducting the average balance-sheet balance of 
the allowance for credit losses. 

(2) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency. 

 

Note: Full data regarding the rates of income and expenses in each segment, by balance-sheet 
item, will be provided upon request. 
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Rates of Income and Expenses (cont.) 

Addendum 3 (cont.) 

 

Foreign Currency 
 For the year ended December 31, 2011 

 Average balance(1) 
Financing income 

(expenses) 
Rate of income 

(expenses) 

 In NIS millions In percent 

Assets(2)   54 (*-) - 

Total assets  54 (*-) - 

    

Liabilities(2)   54 (1) (1.85) 

Total liabilities  54 (1) (1.85) 

Interest-rate gap    (1.85) 

 

(1) Based on balances at the start of each month, before deducting the average balance-sheet balance of 
the allowance for credit losses. 

(2) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency. 

 

Note: Full data regarding the rates of income and expenses in each segment, by balance-sheet 
item, will be provided upon request. 
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Rates of Income and Expenses (cont.) 

Addendum 3 (cont.) 

Reported amounts 

 

Total 
 For the year ended December 31, 2011 

 Average balance(1) 

 In NIS millions 

Monetary assets generating financing income 1,824   

Other monetary assets 6   

Allowance for credit losses  (11)   

Total assets  1,819   

    

Monetary liabilities generating financing expenses 1,654   

Other monetary liabilities 16(2)   

Total liabilities  1,675   

    

Total surplus of monetary assets over monetary liabilities  144   

Non-monetary assets 3   

Non-monetary liabilities  *-   

    

Total capital means  147   

 
* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

(1) Based on balances at the start of each month, before deducting the average balance-sheet balance of 
the allowance for credit losses. 

(2) Reclassified. 

 

Note: Full data regarding the rates of income and expenses in each segment, by balance-sheet 
item, will be provided upon request. 
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Exposure of the Company to Changes in Interest Rates as at December 31, 2012 

Addendum 4 

Reported amounts 

NIS millions 

 
 Upon 

demand 
and up to 
1 month 

Over 1 
month 

and up to 
3 months

Over 3 
months 

and up to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year and 
up to 3 
years 

Over 3 
years 

and up to 
5 years 

Unlinked Israeli currency       
Financial assets:       
Financial assets  1,335 340 322 72 *- 
Total fair value  1,335 340 322 72 *- 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities  1,021 384 348 98 11 
Total fair value 1,021 384 348 98 11 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 314 (44) (26) (26) (11) 
Cumulative exposure in the segment 314 270 244 218 207 
      
Linked Israeli currency       
Financial assets:      
Financial assets 2 2 4 *- - 
Total fair value 2 2 4 *- - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities 2 2 4 *- - 
Total fair value 2 2 4 *- - 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment *- *- *- - - 
Cumulative exposure in the segment *- *- *- *- *- 
 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Exposure of the Company to Changes in Interest Rates as at December 31, 2012 
(cont.) 

Addendum 4 (cont.) 

Reported amounts 

NIS millions 

 
 Upon 

demand 
and up to 
1 month 

Over 1 
month 

and up to 
3 months

Over 3 
months 

and up to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year and 
up to 3 
years 

Over 3 
years 

and up to 
5 years 

Foreign currency       
Financial assets:       
Financial assets  65 (7) *- - - 
Total fair value  65 (7) *- - - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities  47 5 1 - - 
Total fair value 47 5 1 - - 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 18 (12) (1) - - 
Cumulative exposure in the segment 18 6 5 5 5 
      
Total exposure to changes in interest rates      
Financial assets:      
Financial assets 1,402 335 326 72 - 
Total fair value 1,402 335 326 72 - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities 1,070 391 353 98 11 
Total fair value 1,070 391 353 98 11 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 332 (56) (27) (26) (11) 
Cumulative exposure in the segment 332 276 249 223 212 
 
* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Exposure of the Company to Changes in Interest Rates as at December 31, 2011 

Addendum 4 

Reported amounts 

NIS millions  
 
 Upon 

demand 
and up to 
1 month 

Over 1 
month 

and up to 
3 months

Over 3 
months 

and up to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year and 
up to 3 
years 

Over 3 
years 

and up to 
5 years 

Unlinked Israeli currency       
Financial assets:       
Financial assets  1,186 314 309 66 - 
Total fair value  1,186 314 309 66 - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities  921 362 330 85 9 
Total fair value 921 362 330 85 9 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 265 (48) (21) (19) (9) 
Cumulative exposure in the segment 265 217 196 177 168 
      
Linked Israeli currency       
Financial assets:      
Financial assets 2 2 3 - - 
Total fair value 2 2 3 - - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities 2 2 3 - - 
Total fair value 2 2 3 - - 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment - - - - - 
Cumulative exposure in the segment - - - - - 
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Exposure of the Company to Changes in Interest Rates as at December 31, 2011 
(cont.) 

Addendum 4 (cont.) 

Reported amounts 

NIS millions 

  
 Upon 

demand 
and up to 
1 month 

Over 1 
month 

and up to 
3 months

Over 3 
months 

and up to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year and 
up to 3 
years 

Over 3 
years 

and up to 
5 years 

Foreign currency       
Financial assets:       
Financial assets  58 (5) - - - 
Total fair value  58 (5) - - - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities  47 2 - - - 
Total fair value 47 2 - - - 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 11 (7) - - - 
Cumulative exposure in the segment 11 4 4 4 4 
      
Total exposure to changes in interest rates      
Financial assets:      
Financial assets 1,246 311 312 66 - 
Total fair value 1,246 311 312 66 - 
 
Financial liabilities:       
Financial liabilities 970 366 333 85 9 
Total fair value 970 366 333 85 9 
 
Financial instruments, net      
Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 276 (55) (21) (19) (9) 
Cumulative exposure in the segment 276 221 200 181 172 

 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Balance Sheets as at the End of Each Quarter – Multi-Quarter Data 

Addendum 5 

Reported amounts 

NIS millions 

 
 2012 

 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Assets     

Cash on hand and deposits with banks 13 30 21 16 

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity  1,744 1,742 1,692 1,647 

Allowance for credit losses  (10) (9) (9) (8) 

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net 1,734 1,733 1,683 1,639 

     

Computers and equipment 2 2 2 2 

Other assets  400 389 368 329 

Total assets  2,149 2,154 2,074 1,986 

 

Liabilities     

 

Credit from banking corporations  4 1 6 4 

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity  1,868 1,883 1,808 1,735 

Subordinated notes  56 58 57 57 

Other liabilities  17 16 17 16 

Total liabilities  1,945 1,958 1,888 1,812 

     

Capital  204 196 186 174 

Total liabilities and capital  2,149 2,154 2,074 1,986 
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Quarterly Statements of Profit and Loss – Multi-Quarter Data 

Addendum 6 

Reported amounts 

NIS millions 
 
 2012 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 
Income      

From credit-card transactions  72 78 74 68 

Net interest income  2 2 1 2 

Other income  *- *- 1 *- 

Total income  74 80 76 70 
 
Expenses     

 

Provision for credit losses  1 2 2 1 

Operating expenses 23 23 22 23 

Sales and marketing expenses 16 15 10 13 

General and administrative expenses 7 7 5 6 

Payments to banks 16 20 21 16 

Total expenses  63 67 60 59 
     
Profit before taxes  11 13 16 11 

Provision for taxes on profit  3 3 4 3 

     

Net profit  8 10 12 8 
     
Basic and diluted net profit per common share (in NIS)  59 74 84 59 

 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Certification  

I, Dov Kotler, hereby declare that: 

1. I have reviewed the annual report of Poalim Express Ltd. (hereinafter: the “Company”) for 
2012 (hereinafter: the “Report”). 

2. Based on my knowledge, the Report contains no incorrect presentation of a material fact, and 
there is no presentation of a material fact missing from the Report that is necessary so that 
the presentations included therein, in light of the circumstances under which such 
presentations were included, are not misleading with regard to the period covered by the 
Report. 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in 
the Report fairly reflect the financial position, results of operations, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows of the Company, in all material aspects, for the dates and periods 
covered in the Report. 

4. I, and others at the Company making this declaration, are responsible for the establishment 
and application of controls and procedures regarding the Company’s disclosure1 and internal 
control over financial reporting1; furthermore: 

A. We have established such controls and procedures, or caused such controls and 
procedures to be established under our supervision, aimed at ensuring that material 
information pertaining to the Company is brought to our knowledge by others at the 
Company, in particular during the preparation of the Report; 

B. We have established such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such 
internal control over financial reporting to be established under our supervision, intended 
to provide a reasonable degree of confidence with regard to the reliability of the financial 
reporting, and that the financial reports for external purposes are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles and with the directives and guidelines of 
the Supervisor of Banks; 

C. We have assessed the effectiveness of the controls and procedures concerning 
disclosure at the Company, and we have presented our conclusions with regard to the 
effectiveness of the controls and procedures concerning disclosure, as at the end of the 
period covered in the Report, based on our assessment; and 

D. We have disclosed in the Report any change in the internal control over financial 
reporting at the Company that occurred during the fourth quarter, and that had a material 
effect, or could reasonably be expected to have a material effect, on the internal control 
of financial reporting at the Company. 

5. I, and others at the Company making this declaration, have disclosed to the auditors, to the 
Board of Directors, and to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company, 
based on our most current assessment of the internal control of financial reporting: 

A. Any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the establishment or application 
of internal control over financial reporting that can reasonably be expected to impair the 
Company’s ability to record, process, summarize, or report financial information; and 
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Certification 

I, Sigal Barmack, hereby declare that: 

1. I have reviewed the annual report of Poalim Express Ltd. (hereinafter: the “Company”) for 
2012 (hereinafter: the “Report”). 

2. Based on my knowledge, the Report contains no incorrect presentation of a material fact, and 
there is no presentation of a material fact missing from the Report that is necessary so that 
the presentations included therein, in light of the circumstances under which such 
presentations were included, are not misleading with regard to the period covered by the 
Report. 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in 
the Report fairly reflect the financial position, results of operations, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows of the Company, in all material aspects, for the dates and periods 
covered in the Report. 

4. I, and others at the Company making this declaration, are responsible for the establishment 
and application of controls and procedures regarding the Company’s disclosure1 and internal 
control over financial reporting1; furthermore: 

A. We have established such controls and procedures, or caused such controls and 
procedures to be established under our supervision, aimed at ensuring that material 
information pertaining to the Company is brought to our knowledge by others at the 
Company, in particular during the preparation of the Report; 

B. We have established such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such 
internal control over financial reporting to be established under our supervision, intended 
to provide a reasonable degree of confidence with regard to the reliability of the financial 
reporting, and that the financial reports for external purposes are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles and with the directives and guidelines of 
the Supervisor of Banks; 

C. We have assessed the effectiveness of the controls and procedures concerning 
disclosure at the Company, and we have presented our conclusions with regard to the 
effectiveness of the controls and procedures concerning disclosure, as at the end of the 
period covered in the Report, based on our assessment; and 

D. We have disclosed in the Report any change in the internal control over financial 
reporting at the Company that occurred during the fourth quarter, and that had a material 
effect, or could reasonably be expected to have a material effect, on the internal control 
over financial reporting at the Company. 

5. I, and others at the Company making this declaration, have disclosed to the auditors, to the 
Board of Directors, and to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company, 
based on our most current assessment of the internal control over financial reporting: 

A. Any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the establishment or application 
of internal control of financial reporting that can reasonably be expected to impair the 
Company’s ability to record, process, summarize, or report financial information; and 
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Report of the Board of Directors and Management on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting 

The Board of Directors and the Management of Poalim Express Ltd. (hereinafter: the "Company") 
are responsible for the establishment and application of adequate internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in the Public Reporting Directives concerning the "Board of Directors' 
Report"). The system of internal controls at the Company was designed to provide a reasonable 
degree of confidence to the Board of Directors and Management of the Company with regard to 
the adequate preparation and presentation of the financial statements, which are published in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and the directives and guidelines of the 
Supervisor of Banks. Regardless of the quality of planning of the internal control systems, any 
such system has inherent limitations. Thus, even if it is determined that these systems are 
effective, such systems can provide only a reasonable degree of confidence with regard to the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements. 

Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, maintains a comprehensive system 
of controls aimed at ensuring that transactions are executed in accordance with Management's 
authorizations, that assets are protected, and that accounting records are reliable. In addition, 
Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, applies measures to ensure that 
information and communication channels are effective and monitor performance, including the 
performance of internal control procedures.  

The Management of the Company, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, assessed the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2012, 
based on the criteria established in the internal control model of the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, Management 
believes that as at December 31, 2012, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is 
effective. 

The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 
2012 was audited by the Company's external auditors, Somekh Chaikin Certified Public 
Accountants (Isr.) and Ziv Haft Certified Public Accountants (Isr.), as noted in their report on page 
138. The auditors' report includes an unqualified opinion with regard to the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control of financial reporting as at December 31, 2012. 
 

 

 
   

Irit Izakson Dov Kotler Sigal Barmack 
Chairperson of the  
Board of Directors 

Chief Executive Officer Manager of Finance and Accounting 
Department, Chief Accountant 

 

Tel Aviv, February 27, 2013.  
  



 

 

 
 

 
 
Poalim 

Financ
For the 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Express 

cial Stat
year end

Ltd.  

tements
ded Dece

s   
mber 31, 2012  

 



 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

T

 

A

A

S

S

 

 
 

 

Table of C

 

Auditors' Rep

Auditors' Rep

Balance She

Statements o

Reports on C

Statements o

Notes to the 

 

 

  

Contents 

port – Interna

port – Annua

eets 

of Profit and 

Changes in E

of Cash Flow

Financial Sta

al Control ov

al Financial S

Loss

Equity

ws 

atements 

 

er Financial 

Statements

| 136 | 

Reporting

Report aas at Decemmber 31, 20

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

12 

38 

40 

42 

43 

44 

45 

47 



 

 | 137 |  
   

  



 

 

 

A

o

W
C

e

o

W

t

t
a

o

T

s

f
a

a
e
a
t

c

S

Auditors' 

Pursuant t
over Finan

We have a
Company”) 
Framework 
(hereinafter
maintaining
effectivenes
Manageme
opinion on t

We conduc
Board (Unit
Institute of 
the audit t
reporting w
internal con
testing and
assessed 
necessary 
opinion. 

The interna
reasonable 
statements 
(Israeli GAA
internal co
procedures 
fairly reflec
assets from
necessary 
accordance
expenditure
and manag
timely dete
removal of a

Because of
misstateme
risk that co
compliance

In our opin
reporting a
Framework 

Somekh C

Report to 

to the Pub
cial Report

udited the i
as at Dece
issued by

r: “COSO”).
g effective 
ss of intern

ent’s reports
the Compa

ted our aud
ted States) 
Certified Pu
o obtain re

was maintai
ntrol over f
d evaluating
risk. Our a
in the circ

al control ov
assurance
for externa
AP) and in

ontrol over 
that (1) pe

ct the transa
m its posse
to permit p

e with dire
es of the com
gement of t
ction of un
assets from

f its inheren
ents. Also, p
ontrols may
e with the po

nion, the C
s at Decem
issued by C

 

  
Chaikin 

the Share

blic Reporti
ting 

internal con
ember 31, 

y the Comm
. The Com
internal co

al control o
s on interna
ny’s interna

dit in accord
concerning

ublic Accou
easonable 
ned in all m
financial re
g the desi
audit also 

cumstances

ver financial
e regarding 
al purposes 
n accordanc

financial r
ertain to the
actions and
ession); (2)
preparation
ctives and 
mpany are 
the compan

nauthorized 
m its possess

nt limitation
projections o
 become in
olicies or pr

Company m
mber 31, 2
COSO. 

eholders o

ing Directi

ntrol over fin
2012, base
mittee of S

mpany’s Bo
ontrol over

over financia
al control ov
al control ov

ance with th
g audits of in
untants in Is
assurance 

material asp
eporting, as
gn and op
included 

. We belie

 reporting o
the reliabil
in accordan

ce with dire
reporting o
e maintena
d transfers 
 provide re
 of financia

guidelines
made only 
ny; and (3)
acquisition

sion) that co

s, internal c
of any evalu
nadequate 
rocedures m

maintained, 
012, based

| 138 | 

of Poalim E

ves of the

nancial repo
ed on criter
Sponsoring 
ard of Dire
r financial 
al reporting
ver financia
ver financia

he standard
nternal con
srael. Those

about whe
pects. Our 
ssessing th
perating eff
performing 

eve that ou

of a credit-c
ity of finan
nce with acc
ectives and

of a credit-
nce of reco
of the asse

easonable 
al statemen
s of the S
in accordan
) provide re
, use, or d
ould have a

control over
uation of eff
because of

may deterio

in all mate
d on criteria

 

Express L

e Superviso

orting of Po
ria establish

Organizatio
ectors and 
reporting 
, included i

al reporting. 
l reporting b

ds of the Pu
trol over fin
e standards
ether effect
audit inclu
e risk that

fectiveness 
such othe

r audit pro

card compan
cial reportin
counting pri

d guidelines
-card comp
ords that, in
ets of the c
assurance 
nts in acco

Supervisor 
nce with aut
easonable 
disposition o
 material ef

r financial r
ffectiveness
f changes i
rate. 

erial aspec
a establishe

td. 

or of Bank

oalim Expre
hed in Inter
ons of the 
Manageme

and for th
in the accom
Our respon

based on ou

blic Compa
nancial repo
s require th
tive interna
ded obtaini
 a materia
of interna

er procedu
ovides a re

ny is a proc
ng and the 
inciples gen
s of the Su
pany includ
n reasonab
company (i
that transa

ordance wit
of Banks, 
thorizations 
assurance 
of the comp
ffect on the 

reporting m
s to future p
n condition

cts, effectiv
ed in Intern

 

ks on Inter

ss Ltd. (her
rnal Control

Treadway 
ent are res

heir assess
mpanying D
nsibility is t
ur audit. 

any Account
orting, as ad
hat we plan 
al control o
ing an unde
l weakness
l control b

ures as we
easonable b

cess design
preparatio

nerally acce
upervisor of
des those 
le detail, ac
ncluding th

actions are 
th Israeli G
and that 
of the boar
regarding p
pany’s asse
financial sta

ay not prev
eriods are s

ns, or that t

e control o
nal Control 

rnal Contro

reinafter: “th
 – Integrate
Commissio

sponsible f
sment of th
Directors’ an
to express a

ting Oversig
dopted by th

and perfor
over financ
erstanding 
s exists, an

based on th
e considere
basis for o

ned to provid
n of financ

epted in Isra
f Banks. Th
policies an

ccurately an
he removal 

recorded a
GAAP and 
receipts an

rd of directo
prevention 
ets (includin
atements. 

vent or dete
subject to th
the degree 

over financ
– Integrate

ols 

he 
ed 
on 
for 
he 
nd 
an 

ght 
he 
rm 
ial 
of 

nd 
he 
ed 

our 

de 
ial 

ael 
he 
nd 
nd 
of 
as 
in 

nd 
ors 
or 
ng 

ect 
he 
of 

cial 
ed 



 

 
 

W
s
S
2

 

 

 

 

S
C

 

 

 

T

S
I
f

We have al
standards 
Supervisor 
2012 and 2
report dated

Somekh Ch
Certified Pu

 

Tel Aviv, Fe

Somekh Chaikin, a p
Israeli Partnership O
firm of KPMG Interna

lso audited
applied in 
of Banks, 

2011, and fo
d February 

haikin        
ublic Accoun

ebruary 27, 

partnership registered
Ordinance, is the Isra
ational, a Swiss coope

, in accorda
the audit 

the accom
or each of th
27, 2013, e

                  
ntants (ISR)

2013  

d under the 
aeli member 
erative. 

 

| 13

ance with a
of credit-

panying fin
he years in 
expressed a

                  
)                  

 

9 |
 

ccepted au
-card comp
nancial state

the three-y
an unqualifi

       Ziv
            Ce

diting stand
panies as 
ements of t
year period 
ed opinion 

v Haft 
ertified Publ

 

dards in Isr
determined
the Compa
ended on D
on the said

 
ic Accounta

ael, and ce
d by guide
any as at D
December 3
d financial st

ants (ISR) 

 

ZIV HAFT
IS A MEM  

ertain auditin
elines of th
December 3
31, 2012. O
tatements.

T 
MBER OF BDO 

ng 
he 
31, 

Our 



 

 

 

A
S

W
C
c

C
f

W

a
d

f
a
a
t

f
c

G
w

W

a
o

C
e

 

 

 

S
C

 

T

S

S
I
f

Auditors' 
Statement

We have a
Company")
changes in 
period end
Company's
financial sta

We conduc
including st
and certain
directives a
perform the
free of mat
amounts an
accounting 
the manage
in the finan

In our opin
financial po
changes in 
December 
GAAP). Fu
with the dire

We have a
Board (PCA
adopted by
over financi
Integrated F
Commission
effectivenes

Somekh Ch
Certified Pu

Tel Aviv, Fe

Somekh C

Somekh Chaikin, a p
Israeli Partnership O
firm of KPMG Interna

Report t
ts 

audited the
 as at Dec
 equity, and

ded on Dec
 board of d
atements ba

cted our a
tandards pr
n auditing 
and guideli
e audit with
erial missta
nd disclosu
principles 

ement of th
cial stateme

ion, the fina
osition of the

 equity, and
31, 2012, 
rthermore, 
ectives and

also audited
AOB) in the
y the Institut
ial reporting
Framework 
n, and our
ss of the Co

haikin        
ublic Accoun

ebruary 27, 

 

  
Chaikin 

partnership registered
Ordinance, is the Isra
ational, a Swiss coope

to the Sh

e accompa
cember 31, 
d statemen
cember 31

directors and
ased on ou

audit in ac
rescribed by
standards 
nes of the 

h the aim o
atement. An
ures in the 
implemente
e Company
ents. We be

ancial state
e Company
d cash flow
in conform
in our opin

d guidelines

d, in accord
e United Sta
te of Certifi

g as at Dece
issued by t

r report da
ompany’s in

                  
ntants (ISR)

2013  

d under the 
aeli member 
erative. 

 

hareholder

anying bala
2012 and 

ts of cash f
, 2012. Th
d managem
r audit. 

cordance w
y the Audito
applied in 
Superviso

of obtaining 
n audit inclu
financial st

ed and sign
y, as well as
elieve that o

ements refe
y as at Dec

ws of the Co
mity with ge
nion, these 
 of the Sup

dance with 
ates concer
ed Public A
ember 31, 2
the Committ
ated Februa
ternal contr

                  
)                  

 
| 140 | 

rs of Poa

ance sheets
2011, and 
flows of the
hese financ
ment. Our re

with Gener
ors Regulati

the audit 
r of Banks
reasonable

udes exami
tatements. A
nificant esti
s an evalua
our audit pro

erred to abo
cember 31, 
ompany for e
enerally acc
financial st
ervisor of B

standards 
rning audits
Accountants
2012, based
tee of Spon
ary 27, 201
rol over fina

        Ziv
            Ce

 

alim Expr

s of Poalim
the statem

e Company
cial stateme
esponsibility

rally Accep
ions (Mann
of credit-c
. These sta
e assuranc
ning, on a t
An audit al
mates used

ation of the 
ovides a re

ove present
2012 and 2
each of the
cepted acco
tatements h
Banks. 

of the Pub
s of internal
s in Israel, t
d on criteria 
nsoring Orga
13, express
ncial report

v Haft 
ertified Publ

ress Ltd. 

m Express
ments of pro
y, for each o
ents are th
y is to expr

pted Auditin
er of Audito
ard compa
andards re
e that the f
test basis, 
lso includes
d by the bo
fairness of 
asonable b

t fairly, in a
2011, and t
 three years
ounting prin
have been 

lic Compan
 control ove
the internal 
established
anizations (
sed an unq
ing. 

 
ic Accounta

 

– Annua

s Ltd. (here
ofit and los
of the three
he respons
ress an opin

ng Standar
or's Perform
anies as de
equire that 
financial sta
evidence s
s an asses
oard of dire
the overall
asis for our

all material 
he results o
s in the per
nciples in 
prepared in

ny Accounti
er financial 
control of t

d in the Inte
(COSO) of t
qualified op

ants (ISR) 

 

ZIV HAFT
IS A MEM

al Financi

einafter: "th
s, reports o

e years in th
sibility of th
nion on thes

rds in Israe
mance), 197
etermined b
we plan an
atements a
upporting th

ssment of th
ectors and b
 presentatio

r opinion. 

respects, th
of operation
riod ended o
Israel (Isra
n accordanc

ing Oversig
reporting, a

the Compa
rnal Contro
the Treadwa
pinion of th

T 
MBER OF BDO 

ial 

he 
on 
he 
he 
se 

el, 
73, 
by 
nd 

are 
he 
he 
by 
on 

he 
ns, 
on 
eli 
ce 

ght 
as 
ny 
l – 
ay 
he 



 

 | 141 |  
   

 

 

 

 
  



 

 

 
 
 
A
C

A

C
O
T
 

C
C
S
O
T
 
C

T

(

 

 
 

T

 

T

 

Poalim Expre

Balance S
Reported am
In NIS millio

Assets 
Cash on han
Debtors in re
Allowance fo
Debtors in re
Computers a
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities  
Credit from b
Creditors in r
Subordinated
Other liabiliti
Total liabilit

Contingent li
Equity 
Total liabilit

(1) Reclass

Cha
Boa

Tel Aviv, Feb

The accomp

  

ess Ltd. 

Sheets 
mounts 
ons 

nd and depos
espect of cred
or credit losse
espect of cred
and equipme
s  
s  

banking corp
respect of cre
d notes  
es  

ties  

abilities and 

ties and cap

sified. 

Irit Izakson
airperson of 
ard of Directo

bruary 27, 20

panying not

sits with bank
dit-card activ
es 
dit-card activ
nt 

orations  
edit-card act

special agre

ital  

 
the  
ors 

013 

tes are an in

ks 
vity  

vity, net 

ivity  

eements  

  
 

Chief

ntegral part 

| 142 | 

Dov Kotler
f Executive O

of the finan

 
Note

2 
3, 4 
3A 

 
5 
6 
 

 
7 
8 
9 

10, 15
 
 

15 
11 
 

 
r 
Officer 

 

ncial statem

Report a

201

13
1,744

(10
1,734

2
400

2,149

4
1,868

56
17

1,945

204
2,149

 
S

Mana
Acco

C

ents.

as at Decem

Financi

December
12 
 

3 
4 
0) 
4 
2 
0 
9 

 
4 
8 
6 
7 
5 
 
 

4 
9 

Sigal Barma
ager of Finan
ounting Depa
Chief Accoun

mber 31, 20

ial Statemen

r 31 
2011 

 
25 

1,594 
(7) 

1,587 
2 

337 
1,951 

 
1 

1,708(1) 
58 
18(1) 

1,785 
 
 

166 
1,951 

ack 
nce and  
artment,  
ntant

12 

nts 

 



 
 

S

 

 
 

O
T
 

O
S
G

T
 

 

 

 

 
*

(

(
 
 
T
 

Poalim Expre

Statement
Reported am

In NIS millio

Income  
From credit-c
Net interest i
Other income
Total incom

Expenses  
Provision for
Operating ex
Sales and m
General and 
Payments to
Total expen

Profit before 
Provision for

Net profit 

Basic and d

Number of co

* Amount

(1)  The Co
profit an
includin
for state
GAAP f
retroact
2011 an
method 

(2) Reclass

The accomp

  

ess Ltd. 

ts of Profi
mounts 

ons 

card transact
income 
e  

me  

r credit losses
xpenses 
arketing exp
administrativ

o banks  
ses  

taxes  
r taxes on pro

diluted net p

ommon shar

t lower than N

ompany adop
nd loss of b
g the new de
ements of p
for US banks
ive impleme
nd 2010 we
of the curren

sified. 

panying not

t and Loss

tions 

s   

enses  
ve expenses

ofit  

rofit per com

res used in ca

NIS 0.5 millio

pted the dire
banking corp
efinition of int
rofit and los
s regarding 
ntation. Acco
re reclassifie
nt reporting p

tes are an in
 

s 

s 

mmon share

alculation   

on. 

ectives of the
orations and
terest, as est

ss of banking
the measure
ordingly, the 
ed to adjust
period. For de

ntegral part 

| 143 | 

e (in NIS)  

e Supervisor 
d credit-card 
tablished in t
g corporation
ement of inte

data include
t them to the
etails, see No

of the finan

Note 
 

18 
19 
 
 

 
3A 
20 
21 
22 

15F 
 
 
 

23 
 

 
 
 
 
 1

of Banks co
companies 

the circular o
ns and credi
erest income
ed in the stat
e new defin
ote 1.D below

ncial statem

Report a

For

2012 
 

292 
7 
1 

300 

 
6 

91 
54 
25 
73 

249 
 

51 
13 

 
38 

 
275 

 
139,326 

oncerning th
for the first 

of the Superv
it-card comp

e. The directi
tements of p
ition, item h
w. 

ents.  

as at Decem

Financi

r the year en
December 3

2011 
 

256(1) 
7(1) 

*-(1) 
263 

 
4 

82(2) 
48(2) 
22 
63 

219 
 

44 
9 
 

35 
 

249 
 

139,326 

he format for
time on Jan

visor of Banks
panies and t
ives were ad

profit and los
headings, an

mber 31, 20

ial Statemen

nded  
31 

2010 
 

223(1) 
2(1) 
1(1) 

226 

 
1 

72(2) 
50(2) 
19 
54 

196 
 

30 
8 
 

22 
 

168 
 

132,772 

r statements 
nuary 1, 201
s on the form
he adoption 
dopted throu
ss for the yea
nd presentati

12 
 

nts  

of 
12, 
mat 

of 
ugh 
ars 
ion 



 

 

S

 

*

 

 

T
 

 

Poalim Expre

Statement
Reported am

In NIS millio

 

Balance as at
Benefits receiv
controlling sha
Share issuanc
Annual net pro
Balance as at
Cumulative eff
initial impleme
directive on me
impaired debts
for credit losse
2011 
Benefits receiv
controlling sha
Annual net pro
Balance as at
Benefits receiv
controlling sha
Annual net pro
Balance as at
 

* Amount

The accomp

  

ess Ltd. 

ts of Chan
mounts 

ons 

t Dec. 31,  2009
ved from 
areholder 
ce 
ofit  
t Dec. 31, 2010
fect, net of tax, 
ntation of 
easurement of 
s and allowance
es on Jan. 1, 

ved from 
areholder 
ofit  
t Dec. 31, 2011
ved from 
areholder 
ofit  
t Dec. 31, 2012

t lower than N

panying not

nges in Eq

Share cap
9 *- 

- 
*- 
- 

0 *- 
of 

e 

- 

- 
- 

1 *- 

- 
- 

2 *- 
 

NIS 0.5 millio

tes are an in
 

quity 

pital 
Premiu
on shar

- 

- 
35 

- 
35 

- 

- 
- 

35 

- 
- 

35 
 

on. 

ntegral part 

| 144 | 

um 
res 

Capital r
from con

shareh
*- 

*- 
- 
- 

*- 

- 

*- 
- 

*- 

*- 
- 

*- 
 

of the finan

reserve 
ntrolling 
holder 

Tota

3

3

3

3

ncial statem

Report a

al share capita
and capital 
reserves 

*- 

*- 
35 

- 
35 

- 

*- 
- 

35 

*- 
- 

35 
 

ents.  

as at Decem

Financi

al 
Retained 
earnings 

85 

- 
- 

22 
107 

(11) 

- 
35 

131 

- 
38 

169 
 

mber 31, 20

ial Statemen

Total capita
85 

*- 
35 
22 

142 

(11) 

*- 
35 

166 

*- 
38 

204 
 

12 

nts 

al  



 
 

S

 

 

 

C

A

 

A

A

 

C

 

C

*

*

*

 
T

Poalim Expre

Statement
Reported am

In NIS millio

Cash flows f

Annual net pr

Adjustments: 

Depreciation 

Provisions for

Deferred taxe

Revaluation o

Benefit from a

Adjustments f

Changes in c

Decrease (inc

Increase in ot

Increase in ot

Changes in c

Increase (dec

Increase (dec

Increase (dec

Net cash from

*  Amount

** Reclass

*** The dire
Cash F
Novemb
figures 
method 

The accomp

  

ess Ltd. 

ts of Cash
mounts 

ons 

from operatin

rofit  

of computers

r credit losses

es, net 

of subordinate

a transaction 

for rate differe

current asse

crease) in cre

ther debtors i

ther assets, n

current liabil

crease) in sho

crease) in cre

crease) in oth

m operating ac

t lower than N

sified. 

ectives of th
lows, as est
ber 30, 2011
for previous 
of the curren

panying not

h Flows 

ng activity  

s and equipme

s 

ed notes  

with a contro

ences 

ets   

edit to cardhol

n respect of c

net  

lities  

ort-term credit

editors in resp

er liabilities  

ctivity  

NIS 0.5 millio

he Superviso
ablished in t
1, were adop

years were 
nt reporting p

tes are an in

ent  

lling party  

lders and me

credit-card ac

t from banking

ect of credit-c

on. 

or of Banks 
the circular o
pted by the 
reclassified 

period. For fu

ntegral part 

| 145 | 

rchants, net 

ctivity, net 

g corporation

card activity, n

concerning 
of the Super
Company fo
to match th

urther details

of the finan

s, net  

net  

International
rvisor of Ban
or the first ti
e new defini
, see Note 1.

ncial statem

Report a

For the yea

2012 

 

38 

 

1 

6 

(2) 

(2) 

*- 

(1) 

 

(5) 

(147) 

(61) 

 

3 

160 

(2) 

(12) 

 Accounting 
nks on the a
ime on Janu
itions, item h
.D below. 

ents.

as at Decem

Financi

ar ended Dec

2011*** 

Audited  

 

35 

 

1 

4 

(2) 

2 

*- 

1 

 

(3) 

(115) 

(245) 

 

(1) 

**142 

**3 

(178) 

Standard 7
doption of ce
uary 1, 2012
headings, an

mber 31, 20

ial Statemen

cember 31 

2010***

 

22 

 

*- 

1 

(*-) 

1 

*- 

*- 

 

4 

(255) 

(84) 

 

(4) 

**259 

**1 

(55) 

7, Statement 
ertain IFRS, 
2. Comparati
nd presentati

12 
 

nts  

of 
of 

ive 
ion 

 



 

 

S

 

 

 

C

A

 

C

 

 

T

T

*

*

 

T

 
 

 

Poalim Expre

Statement
Reported am

In NIS millio

Cash flows 

Acquisition o

Net cash from

Cash flows 

Issuance of s

Net cash from

Increase (de

Balance of c

Effect of cha

Balance of c

Interest and

Interest rece

Interest paid 

Taxes paid o

Taxes receiv

*  Amount

** The dire
Cash F
Novemb
figures 
method 

The accomp

  

ess Ltd. 

ts of Cash
mounts 

ons 

from invest

of computers 

m investing a

from financ

subordinated

m financing a

ecrease) in ca

ash at begin

nges in exch

ash at end o

d taxes paid 

eived  

 

on income  

ved on incom

t lower than N

ectives of th
lows, as est
ber 30, 2011
for previous 
of the curren

panying not

h Flows (co

ing activity 

and equipme

activity  

cing activity 

d notes  

activity  

ash  

ning of year 

hange rates o

f year 

and/or rece

me  

NIS 0.5 millio

he Superviso
ablished in t
1, were adop

years were 
nt reporting p

tes are an in

 

ont.) 

ent  

 

on cash bala

eived 

on. 

or of Banks 
the circular o
pted by the 
reclassified 

period. For fu

ntegral part 

| 146 | 

nces  

concerning 
of the Super
Company fo
to match th

urther details

of the finan

International
rvisor of Ban
or the first ti
e new defini
, see Note 1.

ncial statem

Report a

For the yea

2012 

 

(1) 

(1) 

 

- 

- 

- 

(13) 

25 

1 

13 

 

 

9 

4 

17 

1 

 Accounting 
nks on the a
ime on Janu
itions, item h
.D below. 

ents. 

as at Decem

Financi

ar ended De

2011** 

Audited  

 

(1) 

(1) 

 

- 

- 

- 

(179) 

205 

(1) 

25 

 

 

9 

*- 

11 

*- 

Standard 7
doption of ce
uary 1, 2012
headings, an

mber 31, 20

ial Statemen

ecember 31

2010**

 

(*-) 

(*-) 

 

30 

35 

65 

10 

195 

(*-) 

205 

 

 

4 

2 

7 

*- 

7, Statement 
ertain IFRS, 
2. Comparati
nd presentati

12 

nts 

of 
of 

ive 
ion 



 
Report as at December 31, 2012 

 

 | 147 |                                       Notes to the Financial Statements 
   

Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies 

 

A. General 

1. Poalim Express Ltd. (hereinafter: the “Company”) is a corporation incorporated in Israel in 1995 
and is wholly owned by Bank Hapoalim B.M. The holder of the permit for control of Bank 
Hapoalim is Ms. Shari Arison. The Company is an auxiliary corporation under the Banking Law 
(Licensing), 1981. The Company issues and clears transactions in American Express brand 
credit cards. 

 2. Isracard Ltd. (hereinafter: "Isracard"), a sister company, operates the Company's credit-card 
system on behalf of the Company. An agreement is in place between the Company and Isracard 
for that purpose, regularizing account settlement between the parties (see Note 15E). 

3. The financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP) and with the directives and guidelines of the 
Supervisor of Banks with regard to the preparation of annual financial statements of credit-card 
companies.  

4. The annual financial statements were approved for publication by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on February 27, 2013. 

  

B. Definitions  

In these financial statements: 

♦ International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter: "IFRS") – Standards and 
interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), including IFRS 
and International Accounting Standards (IAS), and interpretations of these standards by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or the Standing Interpretations 
Committee (SIC), respectively. 

♦ Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for US banks – Accounting principles which 
American banks traded in the United States are required to implement. These rules are 
established by the banking supervision agencies in the United States, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission in the United States, the Financial Accounting Standards Board in the 
United States, and other entities in the United States, and implemented according to the 
hierarchy established in FAS 168 (ASC 105-10), The FASB Accounting Standards Codification 
and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, which replaced FAS 162. In 
addition, as established by the Supervisor of Banks, despite the hierarchy established in FAS 168, 
it has been clarified that any position stated to the public by the bank supervision agencies in the 
United States or by the staff of the banking supervision agencies in the United States with regard to 
the manner of implementation of US GAAP constitutes GAAP for US banks. 
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C. Basis for Preparation of the Financial Statements 

1. Reporting Principles  

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with the Public Reporting 
Directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. In preparing the financial statements, the 
Company implements, among other matters, certain IFRS and GAAP for US banks, in the following 
manner: 

♦ On matters related to the core business of banking – Accounting treatment in accordance with 
the directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, and in accordance with GAAP for US 
banks that have been adopted as part of the Public Reporting Directives of the Supervisor of 
Banks. 

♦ On matters not related to the core business of banking – Accounting treatment in accordance 
with Israeli GAAP and certain IFRS. International standards are implemented according to the 
following principles: 

- In cases in which a material issue arises that is not resolved in the IFRS or in the 
implementation instructions of the Supervisor, the Company treats the issue according to 
GAAP for US banks specifically applicable to these matters; 

- In cases in which there is no specific reference to material matters in the standards or 
interpretations, or there are several alternatives for the treatment of a material matter, the 
Company acts according to specific implementation guidelines established by the 
Supervisor; 

- Where an IFRS that has been adopted contains a reference to another IFRS adopted in the 
Public Reporting Directives, the Company acts in accordance with the IFRS; 

- Where an IFRS that has been adopted contains a reference to another IFRS that has not 
been adopted in the Public Reporting Directives, the Company acts in accordance with the 
Public Reporting Directives and with Israeli GAAP; 

- Where an IFRS that has been adopted contains a reference to a definition of a term defined 
in the Public Reporting Directives, a reference to the definition in the Directives shall replace 
the original reference. 

 

2. Functional Currency and Presentation Currency 

The financial statements are presented in New Israeli Shekels (NIS), the functional currency of the 
Company, rounded to the nearest million, except where otherwise noted. 
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D. Reclassification 

Due to the first-time implementation of certain accounting standards and directives of the Supervisor of 
Banks (see Sections E and F below), certain items in the financial statements and certain comparative 
figures were reclassified, in order to match the item headings and reporting requirements for the current 
period. 

In accordance with the directives, the Company adjusted the presentation method of its statement of 
profit and loss and of the accompanying notes, as detailed below: 

♦ The item “profit from financing activity before provisions for credit losses” was split into three 
separate items – “interest income,” “interest expenses,” and “other income,” presented on separate 
lines. 

♦ Non-interest components of profit from financing activity before provisions for credit losses and 
components of profits (losses) from investments in shares were classified under the item "other 
income." 

♦ The item “profit from extraordinary transactions” was canceled, and the common practice in the 
United States was adopted, where extraordinary items are defined as items that are “unusual” and 
“infrequent.” Accordingly, the classification of any event as an extraordinary item in the statement 
of profit and loss shall be performed only with advance approval by the Supervisor of Banks. 

The Company implemented the directives regarding the format of the statement of profit and loss 
beginning on January 1, 2012, retroactively. Consequently, the reclassifications described below were 
performed in the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010. 

  

Items included in the statement of profit and loss: 

- Due to the initial implementation of the directives of the Supervisor of Banks regarding the new 
format for the statement of profit and loss (see Section E below), the reclassifications described 
below were performed in the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010. 

- Net exchange-rate differences in the amount of NIS 1 million and an amount lower than NIS 0.5 
million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were reclassified, from 
profit from financing activity before provisions for credit losses to other income. 

- Fees to banks in the amount of NIS 1 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
were reclassified, from profit from financing activity before provisions for credit losses to operating 
expenses. 

- The items profit from financing activity before provisions for credit losses and operating profit 
before taxes were changed to net interest income and profit before taxes, respectively. For further 
details regarding the effect of the initial implementation of the directive, see Note 1(D) below. 
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- IAS 23, Borrowing Costs; 

- IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures. 

3. Directives of the Supervisor of Banks on accounting for transactions between a banking 
corporation and its controlling party or a company controlled by the banking corporation. 

4. Directives of the Supervisor of Banks concerning fair value measurement, which integrate ASU 
2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (ASC 820): Revision of Fair Value Measurement and Uniform 
Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS, into the Public Reporting Directives. 

5. Directives of the Supervisor of Banks concerning the update of disclosures of the credit quality of 
debts and credit loss allowances, for the adoption of ASU 2010-20. 

The accounting policies of the Company, as detailed in Section F below, include the new accounting 
policies resulting from the implementation of the accounting standards, accounting standard updates, 
and directives of the Supervisor of Banks, and present the manner and effect, if any, of the initial 
implementation thereof. 

 

F. Accounting Policies Implemented in the Preparation of the Financial Statements  

1. Foreign Currency and Linkage 

Transactions in Foreign Currency 

Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency of the Company according 
to the exchange rate in effect at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency 
according to the exchange rate in effect at that date. Exchange-rate differences in respect of 
monetary items are the difference between the amortized cost in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the year, adjusted for payments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign 
currency translated according to the exchange rate at the end of the year. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair value are 
translated into the functional currency according to the exchange rate in effect on the date on which 
the fair value is determined. Exchange-rate differences arising from translation into the functional 
currency are recognized in profit and loss. 
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(4) Interest income and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis, with the exception of interest 
on amounts in arrears, which is recognized in the statement of profit and loss based on actual 
collection. 

(5) Other income and expenses – recognized on an accrual basis.  

 

3. Impaired Debts, Credit Risk, and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Pursuant to the directive of the Supervisor of Banks concerning the measurement and disclosure of 
impaired debts, credit risk, and allowance for credit losses, beginning on January 1, 2011, the 
Company has implemented the American accounting standard ASC 310 and the position statements of 
the banking supervision agencies in the United States and of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
in the United States, as adopted in the Public Reporting Directives and in the position statements and 
guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. In addition, beginning on that date, the Company has 
implemented the directives of the Supervisor of Banks concerning the treatment of problematic debts.  

 

Debtors in Respect of Credit Card Activity and Other Debt Balances 

The directive is implemented with regard to all debt balances, such as deposits with banks and 
debtors in respect of credit-card activity (including credit to merchants). Debtors in respect of credit-
card activity and other debt balances are reported in the Company's books according to the recorded 
debt balance. The recorded debt balance is defined as the debt balance after charge-offs but before 
deduction of the allowance for credit losses in respect of that debt. The Company applies rules 
according to which the balance of the debt in the Company's books includes the component of 
interest accrued before the classification of the debt as a non-income-bearing problematic debt. 

  

Allowance for Credit Losses 

The Company has established procedures for the classification of credit and the measurement of the 
allowance for credit losses, in order to maintain an allowance at an appropriate level to cover 
estimated credit losses in respect of its credit portfolio. In addition, the Company has established the 
necessary procedures in order to maintain an allowance, in a separate liability account, at an 
appropriate level to cover estimated credit losses in connection with off-balance-sheet credit 
instruments (such as unutilized credit facilities). 

The allowance to cover estimated credit losses with respect to the credit portfolio is assessed by one 
of two methods: “individual allowance” or “collective allowance.” The Company also examines the 
overall fairness of the allowance for credit losses. This evaluation of fairness is based on 
Management's judgment, taking into consideration the risks inherent in the credit portfolio and the 
assessment methods applied by the Company to establish the allowance.  
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Troubled Debt Restructuring 

A debt that has undergone a troubled debt restructuring is defined as a debt in respect of which, for 
economic or legal reasons related to financial difficulties of the borrower, the Company has granted a 
concession, in the form of a change in the terms of the debt, in order to ease the burden of cash 
payments for the borrower in the near term (reduction or postponement of cash payments required of 
the borrower). 

In order to determine whether a debt arrangement executed by the Company constitutes a troubled 
debt restructuring, the Company performs a qualitative examination of the terms and circumstances 
of the arrangement in aggregate, to establish whether: (1) the borrower is in financial difficulties; and 
(2) the Company granted a concession to the borrower as part of the arrangement. 

In order to determine whether the borrower is in financial difficulties, the Company determines 
whether there are signs indicating that the borrower was in difficulties at the time of the arrangement, 
or whether there is a reasonable probability that the borrower will fall into financial difficulties without 
the arrangement. Among other factors, the Company examines the existence of one or more of the 
following circumstances: (1) at the date of the debt arrangement, the borrower is in default, including 
when any other debt of the borrower is in default; (2) with regard to debts that at the date of the 
arrangement are not in arrears, the Company estimates whether, based on the borrower's current 
repayment capability, it is likely that the borrower will default in the foreseeable future and will fail to 
comply with the original contractual terms of the debt; (3) the debtor has been declared bankrupt, is 
in a receivership proceeding, or there are significant doubts regarding the continued survival of the 
borrower as a going concern; and (4) if there is no change in the terms of the debt, the borrower will 
be unable to raise funds from other resources at the prevalent interest rate in the market for 
borrowers who are not in default. 

The Company concludes that a concession was granted to the borrower in the arrangement, even if 
the contractual interest rate was raised as part of the arrangement, if one or more of the following 
occurs: (1) as a result of the restructuring, the Company is not expected to collect the full amount of 
the debt (including interest accrued according to the contractual terms); (2) the debtor does not have 
the ability to raise resources at the prevalent market rate for debt with terms and characteristics such 
as those of the debt granted in the arrangement. 

Debts the terms of which have been changed during restructuring, including those examined on a 
collective basis prior to restructuring, are classified as impaired debt and assessed on an individual 
basis for the purpose of the allowance for credit losses or charge-off. In light of the fact that a debt 
that has undergone a troubled debt restructuring will not be repaid according to its original 
contractual terms, the debt continues to be classified as impaired, even after the borrower resumes 
repayment according to the new terms. 
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The Company has implemented these directives, beginning on January 1, 2012, prospectively, for 
balance-sheet data required for the first time under the directive, with the reclassification of 
comparative figures where possible. It is hereby clarified that disclosures were provided in the 
financial statements for 2012 with regard to the balance of debts and the change in the allowance for 
credit losses; the other disclosures required under this directive will be implemented starting with the 
financial statements as at March 31, 2013. The initial implementation of this directive had no effect, 
other than the change in presentation. 

 

4. Establishing the Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company applies the rules established in FAS 157 (ASC 820-10), which defines fair value and 
establishes a consistent working framework for the measurement of fair value by defining fair value 
assessment techniques with regard to assets and liabilities, and by establishing a fair value hierarchy 
and detailed instructions for implementation. In addition, beginning on January 1, 2012, the Company 
applies the directives of the Supervisor of Banks concerning fair value measurement, which integrate 
the rules established in ASU 2011-04, "Fair Value Measurement (ASC 820): Revision of Fair Value 
Measurement and Uniform Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS," into the Public Reporting 
Directives. 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be obtained from the sale of an asset, or the price that 
would be paid to transfer a liability, in an ordinary transaction between market participants, at the 
date of measurement. Among other matters, in order to assess fair value, the standard requires the 
maximum possible use of observable inputs, and minimum use of unobservable inputs. Observable 
inputs represent information available in the market and received from independent sources, 
whereas unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions of the Company. FAS 157 specifies a hierarchy 
of measurement techniques, based on the question whether the inputs used to establish fair value are 
observable or unobservable. These types of inputs form the following fair-value hierarchy: 

♦ Level 1 data: Prices quoted (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, 
accessible to the Company at the date of measurement. 

♦ Level 2 data: Observable inputs for the asset or liability, directly or indirectly, which are not quoted 
prices included in Level 1. 

♦ Level 3 data: Unobservable inputs regarding the asset or liability. 

The hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs, when such information is available. 
When possible, the Company considers relevant observable market information in its evaluation. The 
volume and frequency of transactions, bid-ask spread, and size of the adjustment necessary in 
comparing similar transactions are all factors taken into consideration when the Company determines 
the liquidity of markets and the relevance of prices observed in such markets. 

In addition, the fair value of financial instruments is measured without taking the blockage factor into 
consideration, both for financial instruments evaluated according to Level 1 data and for financial 
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♦ A detailed breakdown of the fair value hierarchy (the division into 3 levels) in respect of balances 
and fair value estimates of financial instruments. 

The Company has implemented the amendments set forth in ASU 2011-04 and in the circular of the 
Supervisor of Banks, beginning on January 1, 2012, prospectively. The initial implementation of ASU 
2011-04 and of the circular of the Supervisor of Banks had no material effect on the financial 
statements, other than a change in presentation due to the new disclosure requirements. 

 

5. Debtors and Creditors in Respect of Credit-Card Transactions 

Upon capture of a credit-card transaction, the Company includes a debt of the cardholder in its 
balance sheet, if it is the issuing company, against a liability to pay the merchant. If the merchant 
does not receive clearing services from the Company, the Company records a liability to pay another 
clearing company. 

 

6. Offsetting Financial Instruments 

The Company offsets assets and liabilities arising from the same counterparty and presents the net 
balance thereof in the balance sheet, under the following cumulative conditions: 

♦ With respect to such liabilities, a legally enforceable right exists to offset the liabilities against the 
assets; 

♦ There is an intention to settle the liability and realize the assets on a net basis or simultaneously. 

The Company offsets assets and liabilities with two different counterparties and presents a net 
amount in the balance sheet given the two cumulative conditions noted above, provided that an 
agreement exists between the three parties clearly establishing the Company’s right to offset with 
respect to such liabilities. 

 

7. Fixed Assets (Computers and Equipment) 

Recognition and Measurement 

Fixed-asset items are measured at cost, with the deduction of accrued depreciation and losses from 
impairment. The cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost 
of assets created in-house includes the cost of materials and direct labor wages, as well as any 
additional cost directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary in 
order for it to operate in the manner intended by management. 
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8.  Leases 

At initial recognition, leased assets are measured at an amount equal to the lower of the fair value 
and the present value of the minimum future leasing fees. After the initial recognition, the asset is 
treated in accordance with the accounting policy customarily applied to that asset. 

Other leases are classified as operational leases. The leased assets are not recognized in the 
balance sheet of the Company. 

Payments and receipts in operational leases are allocated to profit and loss using the straight-line 
method, over the period of the lease. 

 

9.  Intangible Assets 

Software Costs 

Software acquired by the Company is measured at cost, with the deduction of accrued amortization 
and losses from impairment. 

Costs related to software development or adaptation for in-house use are capitalized if and only if: 
the development costs can be measured reliably; the software is technically and commercially 
feasible; future economic benefits are expected; and the Company has the intention and sufficient 
resources to complete the development and use the software. Costs recognized as an intangible 
asset in respect of development activity include direct costs of materials and services and direct labor 
wages for workers. Other costs in respect of development activities and research costs are allocated 
to profit and loss when they arise. In subsequent periods, capitalized development costs are 
measured at cost, with the deduction of amortization and accrued losses from impairment. 

  

Amortization 

Amortization is the systematic allocation of the cost of an intangible asset over its useful life. 
Amortization is allocated to the statement of profit and loss, using the straight-line method, over the 
estimated useful life of intangible assets, including software assets, starting on the date when the 
assets are available for use, because this method best reflects the forecast pattern of consumption of 
the future economic benefits inherent in each asset. 

Intangible assets created at the Company (such as software under development) are not amortized 
systematically as long as they are not available for use, i.e. they are not in the necessary location 
and condition in order to function in the manner intended by Management. Accordingly, these 
intangible assets, such as software costs, are examined by the Company for impairment at least 
once a year until they become available for use. 
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(4)  Costs of the development or conversion of the software designated for internal use significantly 
exceed the expected amounts; 

(5)  It is no longer expected that development will be completed and the software will be used. 

If one or more of the signs listed above exists, the Company tests for impairment, in accordance with 
the rules set forth in IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.  

 

11.  Provision for Gift Offers for Credit-Card Holders 

The financial statements include a provision for the loyalty program for cardholders. The provision 
made in the books represents a provision at a rate of approximately 85% of the balance of unutilized 
points as at the end of 2012. 

The calculation of the provision for the loyalty program is based on the following assumption: 

Price of points – based on the actual average cost per point as at the end of the year. 

 

12.  Employee Benefits 

Obligations for Employee Benefits 

The Company’s obligations in respect of benefits after the termination of the employer-employee 
relationship and/or other long-term benefits, granted according to law and/or agreements and/or 
custom at the Company, are calculated according to the Company's policies and procedures. With 
regard to employees of the Bank on loan to the Company, such calculations are performed on an 
actuarial basis, taking into consideration probabilities based on past experience. The capitalization 
rate taken into account is 4%, in accordance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks. The 
mortality rate is based on current directives issued in this area by the Supervisor of the Capital 
Market, Insurance, and Savings at the Ministry of Finance. In addition, various statistics are taken 
into consideration with regard to mortality tables, rates of employee turnover, and the real rate of 
change of employee wages over time. The calculation also includes active employees expected to 
retire with preferred retirement terms, before the legal retirement age. Changes in the various 
actuarial characteristics would lead to results different from those obtained today. 

Short-term employee benefits, such as labor wages, vacations, and bonuses, are reported on an 
uncapitalized basis, and the expense in respect thereof for the period is allocated when the relevant 
service is provided. 
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With regard to share-based payment transactions in which the Parent Company grants employees of 
the Company rights to equity instruments, the Company measures the services received as share-
based payment transactions settled in equity instruments. An expense is recognized in the financial 
statements of the Company, in the statement of profit and loss, over the period of the employees' 
entitlement to the equity instruments, against a corresponding amount recorded in equity in respect 
of the equity inflow received from the Parent Company. 

The fair value of the amount owed to the employees of the Company as employees of the Company 
in respect of rights to the increase in value of shares settled in cash or in equity instruments of the 
Parent Company is allocated as an expense, against a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the 
period in which the employees' unconditional right to the payment or equity instruments is attained. 
The liability is remeasured at every reporting date, until the date of settlement. Any change in the fair 
value of the liabilities is allocated as an expense in the statement of profit and loss. 

  

14.  Contingent Liabilities 

The financial statements include sufficient provisions for legal claims, according to the assessment of 
Management and based on the opinions of its legal advisors. The disclosure is in the format set forth 
in the directives of the Supervisor of Banks, such that the claims filed against the Company are 
classified into three groups: 

(1) Probable risk – the probability of realization of the exposure to risk is over 70%. Provisions are 
included in the financial statements in respect of claims in this risk group. 

(2)  Reasonably possible risk – the probability of realization of the exposure to risk is between 20% 
and 70%. No provision is included in the financial statements in respect of claims in this risk 
group, but disclosure is given. 

(3) Remote risk – the probability of realization of the exposure to risk is under 20%. No provision is 
included in the financial statements in respect of claims in this risk group and no disclosure is 
given. 

Legal claims regarding which the Supervisor of Banks has determined that the Company is required 
to pay reimbursement are classified as probable, and a provision is made in respect of the claim 
commensurate with the amount that the Company is required to reimburse. 

 

15.  Taxes on Income 

Taxes on income include current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are allocated to the 
statement of profit and loss, unless the taxes arise from a transaction or event recognized directly in 
equity. 
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16. Capitalization of Borrowing Costs 

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, requires the capitalization of borrowing costs attributable directly to the 
acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that requires 
a substantial period of time to prepare for its designated use or sale, including, among other matters, 
fixed assets, software assets, and other assets where a long period is necessary in order to bring the 
assets to a condition in which they can fulfill their designated function or be sold. However, it has been 
clarified in the directives of the Supervisor of Banks that banking corporations and credit-card 
corporations shall not capitalize borrowing costs unless they have established clear policy, 
procedures, and controls with regard to the criteria for recognition of qualifying assets and with 
regard to the borrowing costs capitalized. Accordingly, the Company does not capitalize borrowing 
costs of qualifying assets.         

 

Effect of the Initial Implementation of the New Directives of the Supervisor of Banks 
Concerning Borrowing Costs 

The initial implementation of these directives had no effect on the financial statements. 

 

17. Earnings Per Share 

The Company presents data on basic and diluted earnings per share with respect to its common 
share capital. Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributed to 
holders of the common shares of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares 
in circulation during the year. 

 

18.  Statement of Cash Flows 

The statement of cash flows is presented with classification into cash flows from regular activity, 
investing activity (formerly “activity in assets”), and financing activity (formerly “activity in liabilities 
and capital”). 

Cash flows arising from main activities of the Company are classified under regular activity. 

The item "cash and cash equivalents" includes cash on hand and deposits with banks for an original 
period of up to three months. 
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Related Party Disclosures, beginning on January 1, 2012, retroactively. For the purpose of the initial 
implementation of the standard, the Company mapped its relationships with related parties. Under 
the new definition, as a result of the mapping process, new related parties were identified. For further 
information regarding transactions and balances with related parties, see Note 17, "Interested and 
Related Parties of the Company." 

The initial implementation of the standard had no effect on the financial statements, other than a 
change in presentation. 
 

G. New Accounting Standards and New Directives of the Supervisor of Banks in the 
Period Prior to Implementation 

 1. In July 2006, the Israel Accounting Standards Board published Accounting Standard No. 29, 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The standard stipulates that 
entities subject to the Securities Law, 1968 and required to report under its regulations shall 
prepare their financial statements according to IFRS for periods starting January 1, 2008 or later. 
The aforesaid does not apply to banking corporations and credit-card companies whose financial 
statements are prepared according to the directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. In 
June 2009, the Supervisor of Banks issued a letter concerning reporting by banking corporations 
and credit-card companies in Israel in accordance with IFRS, which establishes the expected 
manner of adoption of IFRS by banking corporations and credit-card companies. 

Pursuant to the circular, the deadlines for reporting according to IFRS by banking corporations and 
credit-card companies are as follows: 

♦ On matters related to the core business of banking – The Supervisor of Banks intends to reach a 
final decision, taking into consideration the schedule established in the United States and the 
progress of the convergence process between international and American standards. 

♦ On matters not related to the core business of banking – Adopted gradually during 2011 and 2012. 
However, IAS 19, Employee Benefits, has not yet taken effect and will be adopted according to the 
instructions of the Supervisor of Banks, when such instructions are published, with regard to the 
timing and manner of initial implementation. 

  

2. Directive Concerning the Format of the Statement of Profit and Loss of a Banking 
Corporation and the Adoption of GAAP for US Banks on Interest Income Measurement 

A circular of the Supervisor of Banks was issued on December 29, 2011, with the aim of adjusting the 
Public Reporting Directives for the purpose of adoption of the rules established in US GAAP 
regarding nonrefundable fees and other costs. The directive establishes rules for the treatment of 
loan origination fees and direct loan origination costs. The eligible fees and costs, according to the 
criteria established in the directive, shall not be recognized immediately in the statement of profit and 
loss, but shall be taken into account in calculating the effective interest rate of the loan. In addition, 
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Note 2 – Cash on Hand and Deposits with Banks 

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 
 December 31 

 2012 2011 

Cash on hand(1) 13 25 

Deposits with banks for an original term of up to 3 months  - - 

Total  13 25 

 

(1) With deduction of the allowance for credit losses. 
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Note 3 – Debtors in Respect of Credit-Card Activity (cont.) 

Reported amounts  

In NIS millions 

 

B. Debtors and credit to credit-card holders and merchants  

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 

Recorded 
debt 

balance 

Allowance 
for credit 

losses 
Net debt 
balance 

Recorded 
debt 

balance 

Allowance 
for credit 

losses 
Net debt 
balance 

Debtors and credit to credit-
card holders and merchants – 
debts examined on an 
individual basis  27 3 24 22 2 20 

Debtors and credit to credit-
card holders and merchants – 
debts examined on a 
collective basis  1,697 7 1,690 1,546(1) 5 1,541(1)

Total debtors and credit to 
credit-card holders and 
merchants 1,724 10 1,714 1,568 7 1,561 

(1) Comparative figures were reclassified according to the classifications for the current period. 

 

C.  Debtors and credit to credit-card holders and merchants – debts examined on an 
individual basis 

1. Impaired debts examined on an individual basis include: 

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 

Recorded 
debt 

balance 

Allowance 
for credit 

losses 
Net debt 
balance 

Recorded 
debt 

balance 

Allowance 
for credit 

losses 
Net debt 
balance 

Impaired debts* 2 2 - 1 1 - 

Other unimpaired debts** 25 1 24 21 1 20 

Total debts examined on an 
individual basis 27 3 24 22 2 20 

* Impaired debts do not accrue interest income. 

**  Debts examined on an individual basis and found to be unimpaired. The allowance for credit losses in 
respect of these debts was calculated on a collective basis. 
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Note 3A – Allowance for Credit Losses in Respect of Debts and in Respect of Off-
Balance-Sheet Credit Instruments 

Reported amounts  

In NIS millions 

 
 For the year ended  

December 31, 2012 

 Individual 
allowance 

Collective 
allowance Total 

Allowance for credit losses as at Dec. 31, 2011  1 9 10 

Net provision for credit losses  2 4 6 

Charge-offs (1) (6) (7) 

Recovery of debts charged off in previous years(1) *- 5 5 

Net charge-offs  (1) (1) (2) 

Allowance for credit losses as at Dec. 31, 2012 2 12 14 

 

Composition of allowance for credit losses as at Dec. 31, 2012 

   

In respect of debtors and credit to credit-card holders and merchants  2 8 10 

In respect of other debts  - *- *- 

In respect of off-balance-sheet credit instruments  - 4 4 

 

Composition of allowance for credit losses as at Dec. 31, 2011 

   

In respect of debtors and credit to credit-card holders and merchants  1 6 7 

In respect of other debts  - *- *- 

In respect of off-balance-sheet credit instruments  - 3 3 

 

*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

(1) Collection for merchants is performed by offsetting new sales slips captured by the system. 
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Note 3B – Additional Information Regarding Credit Risk – Allowance for Credit Losses 
in Respect of Debts 

Change in Allowance for Credit Losses 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions  
 

 December 31, 2012 
 Debtors and credit in respect of 

credit cards(3)    

 

Under the 
responsibility of 

the Company 

Under the 
responsibility 

of banks 
Credit to 

merchants(3) Other(2) Total 
Allowance for credit losses at beginning of year  8 *- 2 *- 10 
Provision for credit losses  5 (*-) 1 (*-) 6 
      

Charge-offs (6) - (1) - (7) 
Recovery of debts charged off in previous years  5 - -(1) - 5 
Net charge-offs  (1) - (1) - (2) 
      

Allowance at end of year  12 *- 2 *- 14 

 
 December 31, 2011 
 Debtors and credit in respect of 

credit cards(3)    

 

Under the 
responsibility of 

the Company 

Under the 
responsibility 

of banks 
Credit to 

merchants(3) Other(2) Total  
Allowance for credit losses at beginning of year  7 - 1 - 8 
Net charge-offs recognized as at January 1, 2011  (9) - (1) - (10) 
Other changes in allowance as at January 1, 
2011  

12 *- 2 *- 13 

Provision for credit losses  3 *- 1 *- 4 
      

Charge-offs (11) - *- - (11) 
Recovery of debts charged off in previous years  6 - -(1) - 6 
Net charge-offs  (5) - *- - (5) 
      

Allowance at end of year  8 *- 2 *- 10 
* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
(1) Collection for merchants is performed by offsetting new sales slips captured by the system. 
(2) Includes other debts.  
(3) Includes off-balance sheet credit instruments. 
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Note 4 – Debtors(1) in Respect of Credit-Card Activity and Off-Balance-Sheet Credit Risk 
by Size of Borrowers' Indebtedness 
 
 December 31, 2012 
 

 
Debtors in respect of 

credit-card activity  
 

Number of 
borrowers(2) Total 

Of which: 
under 

responsibility 
of banks 

Off-balance-
sheet credit 

risk(3) 
 In NIS millions 
Credit ceiling (in NIS thousands)     
Borrower balances up to 5  249,111 302 296 47 
Borrower balances over 5 and up to 10  73,485 380 348 161 
Borrower balances over 10 and up to 15 35,641 252 214 195 
Borrower balances over 15 and up to 20  25,311 174 127 274 
Borrower balances over 20 and up to 30  32,728 214 129 589 
Borrower balances over 30 and up to 40  17,698 126 64 510 
Borrower balances over 40 and up to 80  10,170 140 87 363 
Borrower balances over 80 and up to 150  981 49 39 51 
Borrower balances over 150 and up to 300  200 24 19 15 
Borrower balances over 300 and up to 600  55 12 9 10 
Borrower balances over 600 and up to 1,200  24 15 11 7 
Borrower balances over 1,200 and up to 2,000  8 8 3 5 
Borrower balances over 2,000 and up to 4,000  3 6 3 4 
Borrower balances over 4,000 and up to 8,000  4 23 8 1 
Borrower balances over 8,000 and up to 20,000  2 17 - 10 
Borrower balances over 20,000 and up to 40,000  - - - - 
Total  445,421 1,742 1,357 2,242 
Income receivable and other debtors  - 2 - - 
     

Total  445,421 1,744 1,357 2,242 
 

(1)  Debtors in respect of credit-card activity and off-balance-sheet credit risk are presented before the effect of 
the allowance for credit losses, and after the effect of collateral permitted for deduction for the purpose of the 
indebtedness of borrowers and groups of borrowers. 

(2) Number of borrowers by total debtors and credit risk. 

(3) Credit risk in off-balance-sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purposes of the limits on 
indebtedness of a borrower (excluding credit facilities under the responsibility of banks). 
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Note 5 – Computers and Equipment 

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 
 Computers and 

equipment 
Furniture and 

office equipment 
Software 
costs(1) Total 

Cost:   

As at December 31, 2011 8 *- 1 9 

Additions  1 - *- 1 

As at December 31, 2012  9 *- 1 10 

 

Accrued depreciation:      

As at December 31, 2011 6 *- 1 7 

Additions  1 *- *- 1 

As at December 31, 2012 7 *- 1 8 

Depreciated balance as at 
December 31, 2012  2 *- *- 2 

     

Depreciated balance as at 
December 31, 2011  2 *- *- 2 

     

Weighted average depreciation 
rate in % in 2012 21.8 7.6 25.0  

Weighted average depreciation 
rate in % in 2011  20.7 8.3 25.0  

 
(1)  Includes capitalized software costs, in an amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Note 8 – Creditors in Respect of Credit-Card Activity 

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 
 December 31 

 2012 2011 

Merchants(1) 1,790 1,636 

Prepaid income  1 *- 

Provision for loyalty program 51 45 

Expenses payable 8 **9 

Others 18 18 

Total creditors in respect of credit-card activity  1,868 1,708 

 

*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

** Reclassified. 

(1) Net of balances in respect of the discounting of sales slips for merchants in the amount of NIS 61 million as 
at December 31, 2012 (Dec. 31, 2011: NIS 63 million). 
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Note 10 – Other Liabilities 

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 
 December 31 

 2012 2011 

Surplus current income-tax reserves over advances paid  *- 1 

Other creditors and credit balances:    

Expenses payable in respect of wages and related expenses  2 3 

Suppliers of services and equipment   5 3 

Expenses payable  3 *4 

Institutions  3 2 

Allowance for credit losses in respect of off-balance-sheet liabilities  4 3 

Others  *- 2 

Total other creditors and credit balances  17 17 

   

Total other liabilities  17 18 

* Reclassified. 
 

 

 

Note 11A – Equity  

 
 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 
Registered 

Issued and 
paid-up Registered 

Issued and 
paid-up 

 In NIS 

Common shares of par value NIS 1 each 500,000 139,326 500,000 139,326 
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Note 11B – Capital Adequacy According to the Directives of the Supervisor of Banks(1) 
(cont.) 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 
 

B.  Capital components for the calculation of the capital ratio  
 

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 
Tier 1 capital    
Equity  204 166 

Total tier 1 capital  204 166 
   
Tier 2 capital   
Lower tier 2 capital    

Subordinated notes  56 56 

Total tier 2 capital  56 56 

(1) Calculated in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives No. 201-211, “Capital 
Measurement and Adequacy.” 

 

Capital Adequacy Target 

The Company has a policy, which has been approved by the Board of Directors and by Management, 
of maintaining a capital-adequacy level according to a capital target that is higher than the minimum 
ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks. In the opinion of the Company, the capital target set by the 
Board of Directors and Management reflects the appropriate required level of capital given its risk 
profile and risk appetite. As at the reporting date, the target core capital ratio is 7.5%, and the target 
total capital ratio is 12.5%. 

As part of the gradual process of adoption of the Basel III directives in Israel, on March 28, 2012, the 
Supervisor of Banks issued a letter entitled, "The Basel III Framework – Minimum Core Capital Ratios." 
The letter requires banks and credit-card companies to maintain a core capital ratio of 9% (instead of 
the current 7.5%) by January 1, 2015. In addition, a banking corporation whose total consolidated 
balance-sheet assets constitute at least 20% of the total balance-sheet assets in the banking system 
will be required to maintain a minimum core capital ratio of 10% by January 1, 2017. For such 
banking corporations, the core capital ratio of 9% to be implemented by January 1, 2015 will serve as 
an interim target. 

The Company is studying this directive and its expected implications in connection with the 
formulation of a revised capital plan, with the aim of ensuring the implementation of the directive and 
compliance with the new core capital ratio requirements; the Company will adapt to the Group policy 
as necessary. 
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additional months after the vesting date. In addition, various limits have been set on the exercise of the 
RSU, in connection with the results of operations and financial condition of Bank Hapoalim. 

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors was also granted equity compensation in the form of 51,000 
contingent restricted stock units of Bank Hapoalim (hereinafter: the "Contingent RSU"). Shortly after 
the publication of the annual financial statements of Bank Hapoalim for a given year, a quantity of 
Contingent RSU, of the installment of Contingent RSU, shall vest. This quantity shall be calculated in a 
proportional and linear manner, based on the attainment of an ROE difference (i.e. operating profits 
above a certain threshold established in the Bank Remuneration Plan) of 1% to 3%. With regard to the 
Contingent RSU, various limits have been set on the exercise of the RSU, in connection with the 
results of operations and financial condition of Bank Hapoalim. 

The ordinary RSU and the Contingent RSU were granted in accordance with the directives of the 
capital gains track in Section 102 of the Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, and were 
deposited with a trustee appointed for that purpose in the Bank Remuneration Plan. 

Upon termination of the employment of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, the RSU (including 
the Contingent RSU) that have not yet vested shall expire, with the exception of a relative share of the 
next installment of RSU that would vest on the next vesting date following the termination of 
employment if she had continued to work at the Company. The RSU vested as described above shall 
be exercised automatically, as described above. 

The ordinary RSU and the Contingent RSU were granted in accordance with the directives of the 
capital gains track in Section 102 of the Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, and were 
deposited with a trustee appointed for that purpose in the Bank Remuneration Plan. 

Upon termination of the employment of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, the RSU (including 
the Contingent RSU) that have not yet vested shall expire, with the exception of a relative share of the 
next installment of RSU that would vest on the next vesting date following the termination of 
employment if she had continued to work at the Company. The RSU vested as described above shall 
be exercised automatically, as described above. 

In the event of termination of employment under circumstances that justify the denial of severance pay, 
or in the event of violation of the non-competition provisions in the employment agreement, the RSU 
will not be exercisable, whether vested or not. 

In the event that Bank Hapoalim distributes a dividend, prior to the exercise date of any of the RSU, the 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to a cash payment in an amount equal to the 
amount of the dividend that would have been paid, if at the date of the dividend distribution she had 
held a number of ordinary shares of Bank Hapoalim equal to the number of the said RSU, with 
deduction of the applicable tax. The payment of the dividend equivalent grant and the entitlement 
thereto shall occur only after the RSU vest, and subject to such vesting. 

In August 2012, Isracard paid Bank Hapoalim the value of the RSU at the date of the grant. 
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the bonus plan applicable to the Chairperson of the Board of Directors and the CEO of the Company, 
see below. 

 Pursuant to the New Employment Agreement, the CEO of the Company was granted equity 
compensation in the form of 189,695 ordinary RSU, exercisable into shares of Bank Hapoalim, at terms 
identical to those established for senior executives of Bank Hapoalim in the Bank Remuneration Plan, 
as detailed above with regard to the Chairperson of the Board of Directors of the Company. The RSU 
will vest over the three years of the agreement (one-third after 12, 24, and 36 months, respectively, 
from the inception date of the New Employment Agreement). In addition to the aforesaid RSU, the CEO 
of the Company was granted equity compensation in the form of 60,000 Contingent RSU, in 
accordance with the terms of the Bank Remuneration Plan, and as detailed above with regard to the 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors of the Company. The other terms of the ordinary RSU and the 
Contingent RSU shall be in accordance with the directives of the Bank Remuneration Plan, as 
described above with regard to the Chairperson of the Board of Directors of the Company. 

In July 2012, Isracard paid Bank Hapoalim the value of the RSU at the date of the grant. 

 

Exercise of options under the previous employment agreement and acquisition of the shares 
arising from the exercise 

The exercise of the options granted to the CEO of the Company under his previous employment 
agreement, which ended January 31, 2012, was approved by the appropriate organs of Isracard. The 
acquisition of the shares arising from these options by Isracard was subject to approval by the 
Supervisor of Banks. Because the Supervisor did not grant approval for the purchase of the shares by 
Isracard, the shares were acquired by Bank Hapoalim. The acquisition of the shares by Bank Hapoalim 
was in a total amount of approximately NIS 4.1 million (before deduction of applicable tax). 

The CEO no longer holds options of Isracard under his previous employment agreement. 

The New Employment Agreement, including the bonus plan and the grants of the RSU, as well as the 
sale of shares of Isracard to Bank Hapoalim, as described above, were approved by the Human 
Resources, Salaries, and Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Board of Directors 
of Bank Hapoalim. 

 

B. Bonuses 

Bonus Plan for the Chairperson of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company 

A bonus plan was established within the new employment agreements of the Chairperson of the Board 
of Directors and the CEO of the Company, as noted above (hereinafter, in this section: the "Plan"). 
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Each year, a payment shall be made to each of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors and the CEO 
in an amount equal to 50% of the balance in the bonus account after the annual deposit in respect of 
the preceding year (assuming that the bonus account balance is positive) (hereinafter: the “Annual 
Payment”), unless, in a certain year, the Company has a net loss for the year and/or a deviation from 
the required capital adequacy ratio. In such a case, the next Annual Payment shall be performed only 
after the publication of financial statements showing an aggregate net operating profit, and/or financial 
statements showing that the deviation from the capital adequacy ratio has ceased, as relevant. 

The directives in the Plan with regard to the termination of employment of the Chairperson of the Board 
of Directors or the CEO, as well as the directives in the Plan with regard to the bonus in respect of 
profits from extraordinary transactions, are similar to the corresponding directives in the remuneration 
plan for the senior executives of the Company. 

 
 

C. Details of Liabilities in Respect of Employee Benefits  

 
 December 31 

 2012 2011 

 In NIS millions 

Early retirement *- *- 

Long-service bonus  *- *- 

Provision for bonus in respect of unutilized sick days  *- *- 

Other benefits upon termination and post-employment  1 1 

Total  1 1 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
 

The Company’s obligations in respect of benefits after the termination of the employer-employee 
relationship and/or other long-term benefits, granted according to law and/or agreements and/or 
custom at the Company, are calculated according to the Company's policies and procedures. With 
regard to employees of the Bank on loan to the Company, such calculations are performed on an 
actuarial basis, taking into consideration probabilities based on past experience. The capitalization 
rate taken into account is 4%, in accordance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks. The 
calculation also includes active employees expected to retire with preferred retirement terms, before 
the legal retirement age. 
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agreement was signed by the Employee Union (the Histadrut New General Federation of Labor in 
Israel and the Isracard Employee Union) and by the Company. The agreement is in effect until 
December 31, 2013.  

The agreement includes a wage increment for employees receiving monthly salaries, in the amount 
of 5.9% in 2011 and 3.1% in each of the years 2012 and 2013. The thirteenth monthly salary will be 
canceled and replaced by a 6% wage update. For employees receiving hourly wages, the thirteenth 
monthly salary will be canceled and the hourly rate will change; these employees also received a 
one-time signing bonus in an amount determined according to the employee's seniority. In addition, 
labor norms were approved with regard to the manner of hiring and employing workers and the 
termination of employment, and terms were agreed upon with regard to deposits in employee's 
pension and study funds.   
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Note 13 – Assets and Liabilities by Linkage Base (cont.) 

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 
 December 31, 2011 

 Israeli currency 
Foreign 

currency(1) 

Non-monetary 
items Total  Unlinked

CPI-
linked USD Other  

Assets     

Cash on hand and deposits with banks  21 - 4 *- - 25

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net   1,530 8 46 3 - 1,587

Computers and equipment - - - - 2 2

Other assets  336 - - - 1 337

Total assets  1,887 8 50 3 3 1,951

 

Liabilities       

Credit from banking corporations  1 - - - - 1

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity  **1,653 8 47 - *- 1,708

Subordinated notes  58 - - - - 58

Other liabilities  **14 - 4 - - 18

Total liabilities  1,726 8 51 - *- 1,785

      

Difference  161 (*-) (1) 3 3 166
 

(1) Including foreign-currency linked. 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

** Reclassified. 
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     Balance-sheet balance(2)  

Over 4 
years and 

up to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years and 
up to 10 

years 

Over 10 
years and 
up to 20 

years 
Over 20 
years 

Total cash 
flows(1) 

No maturity 
date Total 

Contractual rate 
of return(4) 

        

- - - - 2,077 4 2,079 0% 
2 59 - - 1,861 9 1,882 1.88% 

(2) (59) - - 216 (5) 197  
        

- - - - 8 - 8 0% 
- - - - 8 - 8 0% 
- - - - - - -  
        

- - - - 58 - 58 0% 
- - - - 52 2 54 0% 
- - - - 6 (2) 4  
        

- - - - - 4 4 0% 
- - - - - 1 1 0% 
- - - - - 3 3  
        

- - - - 2,143 8 2,149 0% 
2 59 - - 1,921 12 1,945 1.87% 

(2) (59) - - 222 (4) 204  
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     Balance-sheet balance(2)  

Over 4 
years and 

up to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years and 
up to 10 

years 

Over 10 
years and 
up to 20 

years 
Over 20 
years 

Total cash 
flows(1) 

No maturity 
date Total 

Contractual rate 
of return(4) 

        

- - - - 1,883 5 1,887 0% 
2 63 *- - 1,739 3 1,726 1.88% 

(2) (63) (*-) - 144 2 161  
 
 

       

- - - - 8 - 8 0% 
- - - - 8 - 8 0% 
- - - - *- - *-  
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- - - - 49 2 51 0% 
- - - - 4 (2) 2  
 
 

       

- - - - - 3 3 0% 
- - - - - *- *- 0% 
- - - - - 3 3  
 
 

       

- - - - 1,944 8 1,951 0% 
2 63 *- - 1,796 5 1,785 1.87% 

(2) (63) (*-) - 148 3 166  
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Additional Regulation 

1. A private bill was submitted to the Knesset in March 2010, according to which credit-card 
companies must note in their statements to cardholders whether a transaction performed by the 
cardholder constitutes a transaction in a missing document. This bill was passed in a preliminary 
reading on May 26, 2010, and transferred to the Economics Committee to be prepared for a first 
reading. On May 23, 2010, a ministerial committee made the decision to promote this bill through 
regulations, in coordination with the Ministry of Justice. 

 In accordance with these decisions, following discussions of this matter with the Ministry of Justice, 
an agreement was reached regarding the execution of the amendments under both of the 
aforesaid bills in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 470, Charge Cards 
(hereinafter: the "Directive"). A draft amendment of the directive was distributed in June 2011. 

 The private bill on reporting of transactions in a missing document passed in the first reading in 
August 2011. If the matters addressed by the bill are included in the Directive, as noted above, it 
is likely that the legislation on this matter will not be promoted. 

 In November 2011, the matters addressed by the aforesaid bills were formulated into binding 
directives, through amendments to Directive 470, as noted above. The amendment of the 
Directive has no effect on the Company. 

 

2. A government bill approved by the Knesset plenum and published in the Official Gazette of the 
Government of Israel in August 2011 concerns, among other matters, the area of discounting, as 
well as a directive whereby an issuer that issues ten percent or more of the number of charge 
cards issued in Israel, or an issuer of charge cards used to execute at least ten percent of the 
amount of transactions executed in Israel, shall be required to contract with a clearer for cross-
clearing of transactions in the charge card which it issues. The directives of this law have been in 
effect beginning on May 15, 2012.  This law has a negative effect on the Company; however, at 
this stage the Company cannot estimate the full actual extent of this effect. 

  

3. Pursuant to an instruction published by the Bank of Israel in November 2011, banking 
corporations and credit-card companies must provide disclosure in their board of directors' 
reports of any group of borrowers whose net indebtedness on a consolidated basis (after the 
permitted deductions) exceeds 15% of the capital of the banking corporation or credit-card 
company, as detailed in the instruction. This instruction shall apply from the financial statements 
as at September 30, 2011, to the financial statements as at September 30, 2012. The duration of 
the instruction was extended to September 2013 in January 2013. As at the date of this report, 
there is no group of borrowers whose net indebtedness on a consolidated basis exceeds 15% of 
the capital of the Company (as defined in Directive 313). 
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9. In July 2012, the Knesset plenum passed a government bill, in a first reading, for the promotion 
of competition and reduction of concentration. A discussion on this matter was held on August 
29, 2012. 

 

10. In July 2012, a private bill was passed in a second and third reading, according to which a 
condition in a uniform contract establishing a minimum rate for the CPI shall constitute a 
depriving condition. This amendment has been in effect beginning on November 12, 2012. The 
Company has prepared for the implementation of the law. The Company estimates that this law 
will have no material effect on the Company. 

  

11. In July 2012, the Economics Committee held a discussion of the recommendations of the 
Committee for Increased Competition in the Banking Industry. The public was permitted to submit 
comments on the interim report until August 15, 2012. In addition, on August 14, 2012, the Bank 
of Israel published a draft of rules issued as a supplementary measure to the publication of the 
interim report of the Committee for the Examination of Increased Competition in the Banking 
Industry, in order to promote and improve the efficiency of the formal proceeding, reflecting the 
main points of the recommendations of the report in the area of fees. Following the completion of 
the process of consultation with the members of the Advisory Committee on Banking, and the 
examination of the responses of the parties who submitted their comments on the 
recommendations of the interim report in writing, a final version of the rules will be formulated. 
The Banking Rules concerning fees were published in November 2012, and took effect in 
January 2013. Among other matters, the rules cancel the fee for changing debiting dates of credit 
cards. In addition, the service provided by a clearer to a discounting service provider was 
declared a service subject to supervision. The Company estimates that this amendment will have 
no material effect on the Company. 

  

12. In August 2012, the Knesset plenum approved an increase of the rate of value-added tax by 1 
percent starting September 1, 2012. The Knesset plenum also approved an increase of the rate 
of income tax on individuals and the rate of employers' contributions to National Insurance. 

 

13. In October 2012, the Economics Committee passed a private bill, in a second and third reading, 
according to which customers should be notified before the immediate repayment of a loan 
granted to them by a banking corporation is demanded, or before a legal proceeding is initiated, 
as detailed in the bill. At this stage, the Company cannot estimate whether the aforesaid bill will 
result in legislation, and if so, its implications for the Company. 

 In October 2012, the Knesset plenum passed the bill for dispersal of the 18th Knesset, in a 
second and third reading. The election recess began on October 16, 2012 and continued until 
the 19th Knesset took office on February 5, 2013. Legislative proceedings for private bills can 
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C. Legal Proceedings 

Several legal claims have been filed against the Company, arising from the ordinary course of its 
business, in immaterial amounts. Based on the opinion of its legal advisors, the Company estimates 
that the financial statements include provisions, in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, to cover possible damages arising from all of the claims, where such provisions are 
necessary. 

 

D. Indemnification of Directors  

Indemnification of directors and other officers: The Company has undertaken a commitment to 
indemnify directors and other officers of the Company, as they may be from time to time. The 
indemnification letter approved by the general assembly on February 12, 2012, with the approval of 
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors, was adjusted to changes in legislation. The amount 
of the indemnification to be provided by the Company under this commitment to all insured parties of 
the Company in aggregate in respect of one or more indemnity events shall not exceed 50% of its 
equity, according to the most recent (annual or quarterly) financial statements known before the 
actual payment. 

 

E. Agreement with Isracard 

The Company has an agreement with Isracard for the operation of the Company's activity in issuing 
credit cards and clearing in Israel of transactions executed with merchants using American Express 
cards. The Company participates in all costs common to Isracard and the Company, according to its 
relative share of the activity. 

In return for Isracard's activity in the operation of this arrangement, the Company pays a fee and 
other payments to Isracard, as agreed between the parties; see Note 17, "Interested and Related 
Parties," below. 

 

F. Contractual Engagements with Banking Corporations 

The Company has entered into agreements with the banks listed below for the registration of 
customers for the Company's credit-card arrangement: 

Bank Hapoalim B.M. (the Parent Company), Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd., Bank 
Massad Ltd., Bank Otsar Hahayal Ltd., Bank Poaley Agudat Israel Ltd., First International Bank of 
Israel Ltd., Mizrahi-Tefahot Bank Ltd., Jerusalem Bank Ltd., and Union Bank Ltd. (jointly, the "Banks 
Under Arrangement").  
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Note 16 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

A. General 
Balances and Fair-Value Estimates of Financial Instruments 
1. Fair value of financial instruments 

This note includes information concerning the assessment of the fair value of financial instruments. 

A "market price" cannot be quoted for most of the Company's financial instruments, because there is 
no active market in which they are traded. In view of the foregoing, the fair value of the majority of the 
financial instruments is estimated using prevalent pricing models, such as the present value of future 
cash flows discounted by a discount interest rate reflecting the risk level inherent in the financial 
instrument. The estimate of fair value using assessments of future cash flows and the setting of a 
discount interest rate on the basis of the rates close to the balance-sheet date are subjective. For the 
majority of financial instruments, therefore, the assessment of fair value presented below is not 
necessarily an indication of the disposal value of the financial instrument on the balance-sheet date. 
Fair-value assessments are performed, as noted above, according to the interest rates close to the 
balance-sheet date, and do not take interest-rate volatility into account. Under the assumption of 
other interest rates, fair values would be obtained that may differ materially. This mainly applies to 
financial instruments that bear a fixed rate of interest or that do not bear interest. In addition, fees to 
be received or paid in the course of business activity were not taken into account in determining fair 
values, and tax effects are not included. Moreover, the difference between the balance-sheet balance 
and fair-value balances may not be realized, as in the majority of cases the financial instrument may 
be held to maturity. Due to all these factors, it should be emphasized that the data included in this 
note do not indicate the value of the Company as a going concern. In addition, due to the broad 
spectrum of assessment techniques and estimates that can be applied in assessing fair value, 
caution should be exercised when comparing fair values between different companies. 

 

2. Principal methods and assumptions used to calculate estimates of the fair value of financial 
instruments 

Deposits with banks – By discounting future cash flows according to the interest rates at which the 
Company performed similar transactions close to the balance-sheet date. 

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity – The fair value of the balance of debtors in respect of 
credit-card activity is estimated using the method of the present value of future cash flows discounted 
by a suitable discounting rate. The balance of debtors was segmented into homogeneous categories. 
In each category, the receipts were discounted by an interest rate reflecting similar transactions at 
the balance-sheet date. 

Future cash flows for impaired debts and other debts were calculated after the deduction of the 
effects of write-offs and of allowances for credit losses in respect of the debts. 

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity – By discounting cash flows according to the interest rate at 
which the Company raised similar credit close to the balance-sheet date.  
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Note 16 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments (cont.) 

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 

B. Balances and Fair-Value Estimates of Financial Instruments 
 

  December 31, 2011 

  Fair value(a) 

 Balance-sheet 
balance Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets:       

Cash on hand and deposits with banks 25 25 - - 25

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net  1,587 - - 1,579 1,579

Other financial assets  330 - - 330 330

Total financial assets  *1,942 25 - 1,909 1,934

 

Financial liabilities:     

Credit from banking corporations  1 1 - - 1

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity  1,707 - - 1,696 1,696

Subordinated notes  58 - 58 - 58

Other financial liabilities  14 - - 13 13

Total financial liabilities  *1,780 1 58 1,709 1,768
 

* Of which: assets and liabilities in the amount of NIS 25 million and NIS 1 million, respectively, whose balance 
in the balance sheet is identical to the fair value (instruments presented in the balance sheet at fair value). 

 

(a) Level 1 - Fair value measurements using prices quoted on an active market. 

 Level 2 - Fair value measurements using other significant observable inputs. 

 Level 3 - Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs. 
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Note 17 – Interested and Related Parties of the Company (cont.) 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 

A. Balances (cont.)  
 
 December 31, 2011(1) 
 Interested parties Related parties  
 Controlling 

shareholders Key executives(3) Others(4) 
 

Year-end 
balance 

Highest 
balance 

during the 
year(5) 

Year-end 
balance 

Highest 
balance 

during the 
year(5) 

Year-
end 

balance

Highest 
balance 
during 

the year(5)

Assets        

Cash on hand and deposits with banks  25 352 - - - - 

Debtors in respect of credit-card activity, net(2) *- 1 1 1 - - 

Other assets  1 1 - - 328 361 
 
Liabilities        

Credit from banking corporations  1 5 - - - - 

Creditors in respect of credit-card activity  10 13 - - 344 352 

Subordinated notes  58 58 - - - - 

Other liabilities  - - - - *- 5 

       

Shares (included in equity) *- *- - - - - 
Credit risk and off-balance-sheet financial 

instruments  4,078 4,237 3 4 - - 

Guarantees given by banks  753 766 - - - - 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

(1) Restated; see Note 1.F.20. 

(2)  All transactions with related parties were performed in the ordinary course of business, at terms similar to 
those of transactions with entities unrelated to the Company. 

(3) Including their close family members, as defined in IAS 24. 

(4) Parties that meet the definition of a related party pursuant to IAS 24, and were not included in the other 
columns. 

(5) Based on balances at the end of each month. 
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Note 17 – Interested and Related Parties of the Company (cont.) 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 

 

C. Benefits for Interested Parties  
 
 For the year ended December 31, 2012 

 Key executives   

 Total benefits Number of  benefit recipients 

Interested party employed by the 
corporation or on its behalf  1 4 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 2011(1) 

 Key executives   

 Total benefits Number of  benefit recipients 

Interested party employed by the 
corporation or on its behalf  1 5 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 2010(1) 

 Key executives   

 Total benefits Number of  benefit recipients 

Interested party employed by the 
corporation or on its behalf  1 4 

 

In addition, in 2012, the Company had salary and related expenses in the amount of approximately 
NIS 2 million (similar to the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010) for 
approximately 7 employees on loan from Bank Hapoalim. 

(1) Restated; see Note 1.F.20. 

 

D. Additional Information  

- See Note 12 – Employee Benefits. 

- See Note 15 – Contingent Liabilities and Special Agreements.  
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Note 19 – Net Interest Income  

Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 
 
 For the year ended December 31
 2012 2011 2010 
A. Financing income in respect of assets:    
From credit to merchants  2 2 1 
From debtors in respect of credit cards *-  **;*- **;*- 
From deposits with banks  5 **7 **2 
From other assets 2 1 1 
Total in respect of assets 9 10 4 
 
B. Financing expenses in respect of liabilities:  

   

To banking corporations  (*-) (1) (*-) 
On notes  (2) (2) (2) 
Total in respect of liabilities  (2) (3) (2) 
    
Total net interest income    7 7 2 

 

*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

** Reclassified; see footnote 1 to the Statement of Profit and Loss, above.  
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Note 21 – Sales and Marketing Expenses 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 
 
 For the year ended December 31 

 2012 2011 2010 

Wages and related expenses  11 11 10 

Advertising  5 *5 *6 

Customer retention and recruitment  9 11 9 

Gift campaigns for credit-card holders  22 16 21 

Club management fees  4 *3 *2 

Others  3 2 2 

Total sales and marketing expenses  54 48 50 

* Reclassified. 

 

 

Note 22 – General and Administrative Expenses 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 
 

 For the year ended December 31 

 2012 2011 2010 

Wages and related expenses  4 3 3 

Insurance  1 1 1 

Payments to Isracard(1) 17 15 13 

Others  3 3 2 

Total general and administrative expenses  25 22 19 

(1) See Note 15.E above. 
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Note 23 – Provision for Taxes on Operating Profit (cont.) 
 

5.  Amendments of the Income Tax Ordinance 

On July 14, 2009, the Knesset passed the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments for the 
Implementation of the Economic Plan for 2009 and 2010), 2009, which among other matters set forth 
an additional gradual reduction of the corporation tax rate, to 18% from the tax year 2016 forward. In 
accordance with the aforesaid amendments, the corporation tax rates applicable in the tax years 
2010 and 2011 were 25% and 24%, respectively. 

The Law for Change in the Tax Burden (Legislative Amendments), 2011 was passed by the Knesset 
on December 5, 2011. Pursuant to this law, the tax reduction established in the Economic Efficiency 
Law will be canceled, as noted above, and the rate of corporation tax will stand at 25% from 2012 
forward. 

Current taxes for the periods reported in these financial statements are calculated according to the 
tax rates established in the laws as noted above. 
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Note 24 – Operating Segments (cont.) 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 
 
 For the year ended December 31, 2012 

Profit and loss information  
Issuance 
Segment 

Clearing  
Segment Total 

Income     

Fees from external customers  44 248 292 

Inter-segmental fees  105 (105) - 

Total  149 143 292 

Net interest income (expenses)  (*-) 7 7 

Other income (expenses)  2 (1) 1 

Total income  151 149 300 

 

Expenses       

Provision for credit losses  5 1 6 

Operating expenses 53 38 91 

Sales and marketing expenses  46 8 54 

General and administrative expenses 12 13 25 

Payments to banks  33 40 73 

Total expenses  149 100 249 

    

Profit before taxes  2 49 51 

Provision for taxes on profit  1 12 13 

    

Net profit  1 37 38 

    

Return on equity (percent net profit out of average capital)  0.6 20.1 20.7 

Average balance of assets  1,821 249 2,070 

Average balance of liabilities  109 1,777 1,886 

Average balance of risk-adjusted assets  1,410 216 1,626 

 

* Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 
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Note 24 – Operating Segments (cont.) 
Reported amounts 

In NIS millions 
 
 For the year ended December 31, 2010 

Profit and loss information  
Issuance 
Segment 

Clearing  
Segment Total 

Income     

Fees from external customers  **35 **188 223 

Inter-segmental fees  97 (97) - 

Total  132 91 223 

Net interest income (expenses) **(1) **3 2 

Other income (expenses) **2 **(1) 1 

Total income  133 93 226 

 
Expenses       

Provision for doubtful debts 1 *- 1 

Operating expenses ***42 ***30 72 

Sales and marketing expenses  ***45 ***5 50 

General and administrative expenses 9 10 19 

Payments to banks  28 26 54 

Total expenses  125 71 196 
    

Profit before taxes  8 22 30 

Provision for taxes on profit  2 6 8 
    

Net profit  6 16 22 
    

Return on equity (percent net profit out of average capital)  5.0 13.2 18.2 

Average balance of assets  1,239 290 1,529 

Average balance of liabilities  64 1,344 1,408 

Average balance of risk-adjusted assets  1,059 186 1,245 

*  Amount lower than NIS 0.5 million. 

** Reclassified. See footnote 1 to the Statement of Profit and Loss, above. 

*** Reclassified. 
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